
 
 

0 

 

 
 
 
 

  

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

 

Annual Report and 
Audited Financial Statements 

 
For the year ended 31st December 2018 



 

 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 

For the year ended 31st December 2018 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

1 

 
 

 
 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

Company Registration Number: SV18 
 
 

 
 
 

Annual Report 
and 

Audited Financial Statements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the year ended 
 

31 December 2018 

 
 

 
 
 

  



 

 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 

For the year ended 31st December 2018 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

2 

 
Contents 
 

Company information ........................................................................................................ 3 

Report of the investment manager ................................................................................... 4 

Report of the Directors ...................................................................................................... 8 

{ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛes .......................................................................... 11 

Comparative table ........................................................................................................... 12 

Statement of financial position........................................................................................ 13 

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares ....... 15 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income ....................................... 16 

Statement of cash flows .................................................................................................. 20 

Notes to the annual financial statements ....................................................................... 22 

Portfolio of net assets at 31st December 2018 ................................................................ 68 

Appendix 1 ς General information .................................................................................. 86 

CustodƛŀƴΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ ........................................................................................................... 87 

 

 

  



 

 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 

For the year ended 31st December 2018 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

3 

 

Company information  
 
 
 
 
Directors:  Alexander Cuschieri 
 Nicholas Calamatta 
 Carmel John Farrugia 
 Alan Cuschieri 
  
Registered office: Ewropa Business Centre, 
 Dun Karm Street, 
 Birkirkara BKR 9034, 
 Malta. 
 
Company registration number: SV186 
 
Administrator and  
transfer agent: CC Fund Services (Malta) Ltd  
 Ewropa Business Centre, 
 Dun Karm Street, 
 Birkirkara BKR 9034, 
 Malta. 
 
Investment manager: Calamatta Cuschieri Investment Management Limited 
 Ewropa Business Centre, 
 Dun Karm Street, 
 Birkirkara BKR 9034, 
 Malta. 
 
Custodian and banker: Sparkasse Bank Malta p.l.c. 
 101 Townsquare,  
 Qui-si-Sana Waterfront, 
 Sliema SLM 3122, 
 Malta.  
 
Legal advisors: GANADO Advocates 
 171, Old Bakery Street, 
 Valletta VLT1455, 
 Malta. 
 
Auditor: Deloitte Audit Limited  
 Deloitte Place, 
 Mriehel Bypass, 
 Mriehel BKR3000, 
 Malta. 
 

  



 

 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 

For the year ended 31st December 2018 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

4 

Report of the investment manager 
 
 
Market Review covering the period from January 2018 to December 2018 
 
Q1-2018 
 
Risky assets had a positive run during 2016 and 2017, and, heading into the new year, investors were aware that 2018 
might be a pretty tough year given that monetary easing was approaching an end as indicated by major Central Banks. 
Effectively this was pretty much the case in the first quarter of 2018, as investors were rattled by initial market chatter 
on the infamous Trade War between the US and China. Having said that, January started off on a positive tone for risky 
assets, both in credit and equity markets. The sharp correction in the latter trading sessions of the month gave the global 
investor a taste of what volatility could look like when uncertainty begins to trickle in, particularly on the back of trade 
war tensions. Nevertheless, economic data remained robust and earnings intact, with credit and equity posting steady 
ƎŀƛƴǎΦ LƴǾŜǎǘƻǊǎΩ ǎŜƴǘƛƳŜƴǘ ǿŀǎ ŀƭǎƻ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŦŀŎǘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ 9ǳǊƻǇŜŀƴ /ŜƴǘǊŀƭ .ŀƴƪ ǿŀǎ ǘƘƻǳƎƘǘ ǘƻ ōŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 
brink of terminate QE, with some also expecting a rate hike by the end of 2018.  
 
As the days passed by, the gains registered in the first month of the year began to slowly be erased on the back of 
ƛƴǾŜǎǘƻǊǎΩ ǿƻŜǎ concerning the longevity of the multi-decade bull market. Central bank talk remained supportive and 
leading indicators were encouraging whilst market expectations of higher inflation in the U.S. were primarily brought 
about by the uptick in wage growth. Despite these positive signals, February was a weaker month for risky assets, with 
credit spreads heading back to December 2017 levels as investors found a new reason to be worried about ς Italian 
elections. From a fundamental perspective, both the Eurozone and US economies remained in pretty good shape ς but 
investor sentiment was dwindling by the day.  
 
To the surprise of many, sovereign credit emerged as a niche for investors, with European long-dated sovereigns, in the 
first quarter of the year registering a just over four per cent return. Investors flocked towards the safer heavens given 
the sell-off triggered primarily by the tête-à-tête between the US and China. Riskier debt upheld its correlation with 
equities and it succumbed to selling pressure.  
 
Q2-2018 
 
The second quarter of the year kicked-off in muted fashion. Investors were brushing off the declines registered in the 
Q118. Economic data releases came in line with market consensus whilst the primary credit market, despite showing 
some signs of rŜǾƛǾŀƭΣ ǊŜƳŀƛƴŜŘ ǘŜǇƛŘΦ DŜƻǇƻƭƛǘƛŎŀƭ ǘŜƴǎƛƻƴǎ ǊŜƳŀƛƴŜŘ ǳƴŀƭǘŜǊŜŘ ǿƘƛƭǎǘ 9/.Ωǎ 5ǊŀƎƘƛΩǎ ǘƻƴŜ ǊŜƳŀƛƴŜŘ 
upbeat about the outlook for the Eurozone. However, investors were reluctant to put money to work as they were 
aware that market risks remained prevalent; both European and US corporates have re-leveraged significantly over the 
past few years, taking advantage of historically low yields. 
 
In its rate-setting meeting, the ECB remained market friendly as Draghi issued no major announcements at the end of 
the QE program, or any major shifts in policy, with the ECB President keeping his neutral tone. Equities and risky assets 
temporarily came under pressure once more as missile strikes in Syria continued to add to concerns that the recent 
global economic recovery was coming under threat. The worry list for investors already included the risk of wider conflict 
in the Middle East, confrontation with Russia, North Korea, trade disputes and Brexit. 
 
Apart from the political tensions, investors had mixed economic data to contend with. The PMI indices in the Eurozone 
came in much lower than expected, and this was also reflected in weaker PMIs in other counties. On the other hand, 
Eurozone HICP inflation increased markedly to 1.9% in May, up from 1.2% in April, exceeding market expectations. 
Meanwhile, satisfactory earnings results and a change in tone from the US regarding international trade was followed 
by sustained positive performance throughout April and most of May. 
 
June proved to be one of the toughest months for credit markets and risky assets during the first half of the year, and 
was pretty much a reflection of what characterised credit markets in H1-2018. Risk-off mode, risk aversion, and flight 
to safety trades led to a marked widening in spreads and resulted in a negative performance. In addition, the ECB 
confirmed that the end of QE was set for December, and whilst the statement indicated that interest rates will be 
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maintained at the current levels surely until August 2019, this was not digested particularly well with the market, 
resulting in a sharp increase in sovereign yields, and hence higher benchmark rates.  
 
Q3-2018 
 
Following the dismal first half of the year, markets were offered some respite in the early trading sessions of Q318, This 
also provided some form of relief to credit investors despite the fact that credit markets continued to be pressured by 
a more hawkish tone from leading Central Banks, but also by the wider picture of geopolitical tensions. During the 
month, trade tensions waned and markets viewed that as an opportunity. It therefore came as no surprise that in July, 
emerging market bonds emerged amongst the best performers as the recent outflow from the region seemed an 
overreaction. Hard currency emerging market bonds registered a gain of just below 1.8 percent as investors opted to 
take advantage of the opportunity by dipping in at very attractive levels. 
 
July also marked the beginning of earnings seasons and many companies published reports by midsummer 2018, which 
also aided in spurring investor sentiment. Meanwhile, the policy divergence between the Federal Reserve and the 
European Central Bank decreased enthusiasm in the euro. Two-year yield difference between Treasuries and German 
bunds widened to more than 300 basis points.  
 
President Trump meanwhile proposed further tariffs on Chinese goods worth $200 billion, which threatened a niche 
trade in minor metals and rare earths used in a wide range of products, from medicine, to jet engines and consumer 
electronics. This escalating trade dispute continued to pose a risk to international markets, including the euro zone, and 
this was ultimately reflected in the valuation of assets. 
 
The political saga in Italy continued to loom on Italian assets, which resulted in Fitch to revise its outlook to negative, 
while reaffirming its BBB rating. If this was not enough, investors had to digest the reintroduction of US sanctions against 
Iran, new tensions between Turkey and the US, a deterioration of trade talks between the US and China, and volatility 
in the Italian government bond market. Most equity markets and risk assets sold off for much of the quarter, with the 
notable exception of the S&P 500, where extraordinarily strong macro data, and a general absence of any inflation 
concerns, once again pushed the index higher. Amid the geopolitical turmoil, the search for a safe haven helped push 
government bond prices up, with the 10-year US Treasury yield falling by 10 basis points (bps) to 2.86%. 
 
Uncertainty was of the highest order in September as there were a number of external market forces, beyond everyone, 
which were impossible to anticipate let alone quantify. This had a massive impact on asset prices, a typical example of 
which was the infamous on going trade wars, which pretty much characterised the better part of 2018. The effect 
impacted asset classes across the entire spectrum including High Yield assets. In addition, geo-political tensions 
ǇŜǊǎƛǎǘŜƴǘƭȅ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ ƛƴ 9ǳǊƻǇŜΣ ŀǎ LǘŀƭȅΩǎ ǇƻǇǳƭƛǎǘ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘ ǇǳǎƘŜŘ ǘƻǿŀǊŘǎ ŀ ƘƛƎƘŜǊ ŘŜŦƛŎƛǘ ǘŀǊget, a move towards 
economic sustainability. Given that Italy is a very important economy for the euro area, the said political chaos triggered 
volatility in risky assets.  
 
Moreover, there was a material weakening in the Eurozone manufacturing new export orders survey since the beginning 
ƻŦ нлмуΦ aǳŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿŜŀƪƴŜǎǎ ŎŀƳŜ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ ǎƘŀǊǇ ǎƭƻǿŘƻǿƴ ƛƴ ŜȄǇƻǊǘǎ ǘƻ /ƘƛƴŀΦ LƴǾŜǎǘƻǊǎΩ ǿƻǊǊƛŜǎ ŜƳŀƴŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 
notion that the main risk was that weaker exports combined with higher oil prices could feed into weaker domestic 
consumption. Adding further to investor woes, consumer confidence persisted with its downward trajectory, triggering 
a significant shift in risk aversion out of risky assets into safer havens. 
 
Q4-2018 
 
Heading into the last stretch of 2018, investors were eager to recover the lost ground of the previous months ς but the 
first month of the year pretty much mirrored events, which characterised 2018 as a whole, especially for credit markets. 
US High Yield markets declined by 1.61%; European High Yield markets declined by 1.00%; Global Emerging Markets 
declined by 0.60%; and, as a result in a marked increase in risk aversion, interest rates on European Sovereign bonds 
declined marginally during the October, with the total return on Malta Government Stocks, as registered by the CC 
Malta Government Bond Index being a positive 0.30%. Credit spreads kept widening on thin volumes. The US dollar fell 
below the 1.14 level against the euro.  
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¢ƘŜ ǿƻǊƭŘΩǎ ƭŜŀŘƛƴƎ ŜŎƻƴƻmies, the US and the Eurozone, appeared to be in good shape albeit some weak numbers. 
¸ŜǘΣ ǿƘŀǘ ǿŀǎ ŎŀǳǎƛƴƎ Ƴƻǎǘ ƧƛǘǘŜǊǎ ǿŜǊŜ 9ƳŜǊƎƛƴƎ aŀǊƪŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŀƳƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƘŜ ǘǊŀŘŜ ǿŀǊǎ ǿŀǎ ƘŀǾƛƴƎ ƻƴ 9aΩǎ 
largest economy, China. This resulted in a market and asset wide sell-off during October. 
 
The haemorrhage was contained during November on investor hopes that the December G20 meeting would offer 
investors some relief and respite. In fact, markets took a boost with the news of an agreement being attempted. The 
market rebounded but not to its full potential due to market sentiment reflecting overall wariness towards uncertainty, 
as the weakness in the financial sector remained a drag on the asset class, whilst the sharp decline in the price of oil 
also contributed to weak investor sentiment..  
 
The G-20 summit in December was a crucial meeting which investors were anxiously waiting for, which however did not 
suffice to convince investors that a deal would be imminently struck. This led to yet an umpteenth market correction in 
the final month of the year - ƳŀǊƪŜǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǊŀǘǘƭŜŘ ŀƴŘ ƭŜŘ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ ƳŀǊƪŜǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǘƘŜǊ Ǌƛǎƪȅ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ǘŜǎǘƛƴƎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƻǊǎΩ ƴŜǊǾŜǎΦ   
 
Furthermore, despite expected by most market participants, the major event that sent bond prices falling further was 
ǘƘŜ ŦƻǳǊǘƘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƘƛƪŜ ǎŜǘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ CŜŘΦ ²Ƙƛƭǎǘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƻǊǎ ŘƛŘ ǇǊƛŎŜ ƛƴ ŀ ǊŀǘŜ ƘƛƪŜΣ ǘƘŜ CŜŘΩǎ ŘƻǾƛǎƘ ǘƻƴŜ ŎŀǳƎƘǘ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ 
participants unawares. The said move was a huge concern given the relatively weak data in the final days of 2018. 
  
All in all, investors across all asset classes, bar US treasuries, could not catch a break in 2018 even though they hoped to 
see some form of good news particularly during the G20 summit in December. 2018 was indeed an extremely 
challenging year, with the final stretch of the year doing little to tone down investor worries as the volatility which 
characterised the year persisted till the final trading session of the year amid fears that a forecasted global growth 
slowdown could further dent the prospects of recovering from the rollercoaster that was 2018.  
 
Indeed, 2018 was one of the toughest years in history. A year characterised by abnormal market volatility, which was 
triggered on chatter, rather than factual events, which are usually the prime market movers. As with all market 
participants, we believed that the last month of the year markets would find some sort of respite, which however did 
not materialise. For 2019, we are now more confident based on a trade war solution, in addition to the implanted 
economic stimulus by the Chinese government. Both should trigger a more benevolent economic environment, which 
should also be reflected in financial markets.    
 
 
Salient Market Information as at 31 December 2018 
 

 
31-Dec-2017 30-Jun-2018 31-Dec-2018 

Change Since Change Since 

 31-Dec-2017 30-Jun-2018 
10-Year German 
Bund 0.42 0.30 0.24 -0.18 -0.06 

10-Year US Treasury 2.41 2.86 2.69 0.28 -0.18 

10-Year UK Gilt 1.19 1.28 1.28 0.09 0.00 

      
Dow Jones 
Eurostoxx 50 3,504 3,396 3,001 -14.34% -11.61% 

FTSE 100 7,688 7,637 6,728 -12.48% -11.90% 

S&P 500 2,674 2,718 2,507 -6.24% -7.78% 

Topix 22,765 22,305 20,015 -12.08% -10.27% 

      

EUR/USD 1.2005 1.1684 1.1467 4.48% 1.86% 

EUR/GBP 0.8881 0.8847 0.8990 -1.22% -1.61% 

EUR/JPY 135.28 129.36 125.83 6.99% 2.73% 

      

VIX 11.04 16.09 25.42 14.38 9.33 

Gold 1,303 1,253 1,282 -1.58% 2.34% 

EUR/CHF 1.1703 1.1570 1.1255 3.82% 2.72% 
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Remuneration disclosures 
 
CC Funds SICAV plc (formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) όǘƘŜ ά/ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύ ƛǎ ƭƛŎŜƴǎed by the Malta Financial 
Services Authority to act as a UCITS Management Company (amongst others) pursuant to the transposition of Directive 
2009/65/EC (as amended). Directive 2014/91/EU of European Parliament on the coordination of laws, regulations and 
ŀŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƛǾŜ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ¦ƴŘŜǊǘŀƪƛƴƎǎ ŦƻǊ /ƻƭƭŜŎǘƛǾŜ LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƛƴ ¢ǊŀƴǎŦŜǊŀōƭŜ {ŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ όά¦/L¢{έύ ŀǎ 
regards depositary functions, remuneration policies and sanctions came into force in March 2016 hereinafter referred 
ǘƻ ŀǎ ά¦/L¢{ ±έ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ ά5ƛǊŜŎǘƛǾŜέΦ  
 
ESMA Guidelines on sound remuneration policies under the UCITS Directive requires that the management company 
considers the additional disclosures, in accordance with the principle of proportionality and at least on an annual basis, 
certain information regŀǊŘƛƴƎ ƛǘǎ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŀŎǘƛŎŜǎ ŦƻǊ ΨƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ǎǘŀŦŦΩΦ ¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ƙŀǎ 
adopted and implements a remuneration policy which is available at: https://www.cc.com.mt/wp-
content/uploads/2012/10/CCIM-Remuneration-Policy.pdf 
 
CƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŘǳŜ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƛȊŜΣ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƴŀǘǳǊŜΣ ǎŎƻǇŜ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƳǇƭŜȄƛǘȅ ƻŦ 
its activities, the Board of Directors have determined that the Company is not required to appoint a remuneration 
committee on the basis of the principle of proportionality. The Board of Directors will review the appropriateness of the 
remuneration policy annually and will ensure that it is in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.  The 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǊŜƎƛƳŜ ƛǎ ŘŜǎƛƎƴŜŘΣ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜŘ ŀƴŘ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎƛǎ ƻŦ ŀƴ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƴƎ Ǉƭŀƴ ǘƘŀǘ 
ƛǎ ŎƻƴǘƛƴƎŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƭƻƴƎ ǘŜǊƳ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎƛŎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜǎ ǘƻ ŀŎƘƛŜǾŜ ǎǘǊƻƴƎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳance and to be 
ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘŀƭ ǘƻ ŎƭƛŜƴǘǎΩ ǎǳŎŎŜǎǎΦ ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ŘƻŜǎ ƴƻǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ŦƻǊ ǇŜƴǎƛƻƴ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘǎ ƴƻǊ ŀƴȅ 
deferral or equity measure in line with the proportionality principle. ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ƙŀǎ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜŘ 
ǘƘŀǘ ΨƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ǎǘŀŦŦΩ ŎƻƴǎǘƛǘǳǘŜ ƻŦ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎΣ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜǊΣ ŎƻƳǇƭƛŀƴŎŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊ 
ŀƴŘ ƳƻƴŜȅ ƭŀǳƴŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǊ ǘƻǘŀƭƭƛƴƎ ф ΨƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ǎǘŀŦŦΩΦ !ƭƭ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ǎǘŀŦŦ ŀǊŜ ƛƴǾƻƭǾŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ 
related to CC Funds SICAV plc (formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) and receive fixed and variable 
remuneration as follows: 
 
 
 
 

Staff Remuneration FY 2018  
Number of 

beneficiaries 

Fixed 
Remuneration 

EUR 
 

Variable 
Remuneration 

EUR 
 

Senior management 3 44,014 -  
Risk takers 5 297,981 7,271 
Control functions  1             20,163 - 
Other identified staff               1  10,011  -  

 10 372,169 7,271 

 
 

Staff Remuneration FY 2017  
Number of 

beneficiaries 

Fixed 
Remuneration 

EUR 
 

Variable 
Remuneration 

EUR 
 

Senior management 3 43,970 -  
Risk takers 5 309,643 8,799 
Control functions 1 41,476 865 
Other identified staff -  -  -  

 9 395,089 9,664 

 
 
The quantitative information disclosed above pertains to the full financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 
December 2017 respectively and pertains to the total aggregate remuneration paid by the UCITS Management Company 
to identified staff. There have been no material changes to the remuneration policy in the year under review.  

https://www.cc.com.mt/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/CCIM-Remuneration-Policy.pdf
https://www.cc.com.mt/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/CCIM-Remuneration-Policy.pdf
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Report of the Directors 
 
The Directors present their eighth Annual Report, together with the audited financial statements of CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) όΨǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩύ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘŜŘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлм8. 
 
Principal activities 
 
The Company is an open-ended collective investment scheme organised as a multi-fund public limited liability company 
with variable share capital registered under the Laws of Malta. The CƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǉǳŀƭƛŦƛŜǎ ŀǎ ŀ ΨaŀƭǘŜǎŜ ¦/L¢{Ω ƛƴ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ 
the Investment Services Act Regulations. As at the reporting date, the Company constituted of six sub-funds each being 
a segregated patrimony and each sub-fund is represented by different classes of shares. The investment objective of 
the Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) and Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly 
High Income Bond Fund  - USD) is to endeavour to maximise the total level of return for investors through investment, 
primarily, in a diversified portfolio of debt securities and other fixed income or interest bearing securities. The Euro 
9ǉǳƛǘȅ CǳƴŘΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŜƴŘŜŀǾour to maximise the total level of return for investors through 
investment, primarily, in a diversified portfolio of equity securities. The investment objective of the Global Balanced 
Income Fund is to seek to provide stable, long-term capital appreciation by investing primarily in a diversified portfolio 
of local and international bonds, equities and other income-generating assets. The investment objective of the Malta 
Government Bond Fund is to endeavour to maximise the total level of return for investors through investment, primarily 
in debt securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by the Government of Malta. The Emerging 
Markets Bond FuƴŘΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŜƴŘŜŀǾƻǳǊ ǘƻ ƳŀȄƛƳƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǘŀƭ ƭŜǾŜƭ ƻŦ ǊŜǘǳǊƴ ŦƻǊ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƻǊǎ ǘƘǊƻǳƎh 
investments primarily in a well-diversified portfolio of debt securities and other fixed-income or interest bearing 
securities. The investment objective of the Malta Balanced Income Fund (formerly Malta Income Fund) is to maximise 
the total level of return for investors through investment primary in debt securities and money market instruments 
issued or guaranteed by the Government of Malta, and equities and corporate bonds issued and listed on the Malta 
Stock Exchange.    
 
The Malta Government Bond Fund was listed on the Malta Stock Exchange during the year.  
 
{ƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎ 
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, one sub-fund, the Malta Balanced Income Fund (formerly Malta 
Income Fund) was launched whilst none were liquidated. 
 

Results and dividends 
 

The results for the year are shown in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 17 to 
20.  
 

In the year to 31 December 2018, no dividend was proposed to the founder shareholders out of the profits of the 
General Account (2017: proposed dividend of NIL). No subsequent to year-end dividends were proposed.  
 
Business review 
 
A review of the business of the Company during the current year and an indication of likely future developments are 
ƎƛǾŜƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ aŀƴŀƎŜǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ ƻƴ pages 5 to 8. 
 
At 31 December 2018, the net asset value of the Company stood at EUR101,830,535 (2017: EUR89,013,303). 
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Business review (continued) 
 

Sub-Fund NAV 
Dec 17 
EUR 

NAV 
Dec 18 
EUR 

YTD AUM 
 

EUR 
Million  

Net Sub/Red 
EUR 

Million 

TER 

Euro High Income Bond Fund ς 
A Share Class 

125.83 117.72 (6.45%) 45.6 (2.60)  

Euro High Income Bond Fund ς 
D Share Class 

99.49 89.56 (9.98%) 

Global High Income Bond Fund 
ς A Share Class 

120.55 116.67 (3.22%) 17.5 (0.05)  

Global High Income Bond Fund 
ς D Share Class 

95.06 87.56 (7.89%) 

Euro Equity Fund 119.11        118.24 (0.73%) 6.3 (0.02)  

Global Balanced Income Fund ς 
EUR A Share Class 

11.11 9.46 (14.85%) 6.1 
 

1.14 
 

 

Global Balanced Income Fund ς 
EUR B Share Class 

- 9.46 (3.96%) 

Malta Government Bond Fund  100.45 99.74 (0.71%) 12.6 10.6  

Emerging Markets Bond Fund ς 
USD A Share Class 

99.78 93.63 (6.16%) 10.2 6.37  

Emerging Markets Bond Fund ς 
USD B Share Class 

99.78 91.52 (8.28%) 

Emerging Markets Bond Fund ς 
EUR C Share Class 

98.75 89.78 (9.08%) 

Emerging Markets Bond Fund ς 
EUR D Share Class 

98.65 87.51 (11.29%) 

Malta Balanced Income Fund ς 
EUR A Share Class 

- 100.23 0.23% 7.6 7.50  

Malta Balanced Income Fund ς 
EUR B Share Class 

- 100.25 0.25%   

 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The successful management of risk is essential to enable the company to achieve its objectives. The ultimate 
ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǎǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ ǿƘƻ ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ ŀǇǇŜǘƛǘŜ ŀƴŘ 
formulate policies for identifying and managing such risks. The Principal risks and uncertainties are included in the 
investment managersΩ report on pages 5 to 8. 
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Financial risk management 
 
bƻǘŜ мм ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ŘŜǘŀƛƭǎ ƛƴ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ financial instruments, its 
financial risk management objectives and policies and the financial risks to which it is exposed. 
 
Directors 
 
The Directors who served in office during the period were: 
 
Alexander Cuschieri 
Nicholas Calamatta 
Carmel John Farrugia 
Alan Cuschieri 
 
Lƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜ мфΦр ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀǊŜ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ǊŜǘƛǊŜ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƻǊǘƘŎƻƳƛƴƎ !ƴƴǳŀƭ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ aŜŜǘƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ōŜƛƴƎ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜΣ ƛƴǘŜƴŘ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜƳǎŜƭǾŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǊŜ-election. 
 
Auditors 
 
A resolution to reappoint Deloitte Audit Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. 
 
Standard licence conditions and regulatory sanctions 
 
During the year under review there were no breaches of standard conditions or other regulatory requirements or 
administrative penalty which were subject to regulatory sanctions. 
 
Events after the reporting period 
 
In  March 2019, the name of the SICAV changed from Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc to CC Funds SICAV plc. 
!ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƻǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ŎƘŀƴƎŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ /alamatta Cuschieri Fund Services Limited to CC Fund Services (Malta) Limited. 
Additionally, CC High Income Bond Fund EUR changed to Euro High Income Bond Fund, CC High Income Bond Fund 
USD name changed to Global High Income Bond Fund and Malta Income Fund name changed to Malta Balanced 
Income Fund. 
 
 
Approved by the Board on 16 April 2019 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     
Carmel John Farrugia    Nicholas Calamatta 

Director      Director 
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Statement of DirectorsΩ responsibilities  
 
The directors are required by the Companies Act (Cap. 386) to prepare financial statements in accordance with 
generally-accepted accounting principles and practices which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
company at the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss for the year then ended. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors should: 
 
(i) select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently; 
(ii) make judgments and estimates that are reasonable; and 
(iii) prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company 

will continue in business as a going concern. 
 
The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and which enable the directors to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act (Cap. 386). This responsibility includes designing, implementing and 
maintaining such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  The directors are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the company, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 
 
Additionally, the Directors of a multi-fund Company are responsible for ensuring that such separate records, accounts, 
statements and other records are kept as may be necessary to evidence the liabilities and assets of each sub-fund as 
distinct and separate from the assets and liabilities of other sub-funds in the same Company. 
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Comparative table 
    

Net Asset Value per unit Net Asset Value    
31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16          

Euro High Income Bond Fund 
       

 
Class A EUR 117.72 125.83 119.47 3,511,754 4,291,593     4,220,702  
Class D EUR 89.56 99.49        98.48  41,887,181 48,787,775   44,313,637    

 
  

 
  

Global High Income Bond Fund 
 

 
  

 
  

 
Class A USD 116.67 120.55      114.04  1,956,258 2,574,709      2,628,338  
Class D USD 87.56 95.06        94.40  15,476,072 16,735,699   16,489,461    

 
  

 
  

Euro Equity Fund 
 

 
  

 
  

 
Class A EUR 118.24      119.11      107.08 6,242,584 7,650,643     8,774,529     

 
  

 
  

Global Balanced Income Fund  
  

 
  

 
Class A EUR 9.46 11.11        10.25 5,918,408 5,925,730    4,501,994 

 Class B EUR 9.46 -        - 118,065 -    - 

         

Malta Government Bond Fund       

 Class A EUR 99.74 100.22 - 12,530,602 1,880,857 - 

         

Emerging Markets Bond Fund       

 Class A USD 93.63 99.78 -     646,658 414,198 - 

 Class B USD 91.52 99.78 - 1,996,668 1,366,569 - 

 Class C EUR 89.78 98.75 - 1,336,623 800,962 - 

 Class D EUR 87.51 98.65 - 5,252,737 2,105,912 - 

         

Malta Balanced Income Fund 
       

 
Class A EUR 100.23 - - 2,317,594 -     -  
Class B EUR 100.25 -       -  5,207,654 -  -    
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Statement of financial position  
 
As at 31 December 2018 
 

 
 
 
The notes on pages 23 to 63 are an integral part of these annual financial statements. 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 

Global High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 

Malta 
Govern-

ment Bond 
Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond 
Fund USD 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Assets          

Financial assets at fair value           
through profit or loss 

 89,408,666 39,122,515 
 

13,472,231 6,267,796 5,259,824 11,653,520 7,828,665 5,804,115 

Prepayments and accrued 
income 

 1,234,058 695,029 
 

219,767 716 33,429 97,887 134,228 53,002 

Settlements receivable  40,452 
 

- 
 

- 39,452 - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents  11,715,618 5,845,643 
 
 

1,569,683 (27,502) 797,697 811,895 1,021,348 1,696,854 

          
Total assets  102,398,794 45,663,187 15,261,681 6,280,462 6,090,950 12,563,302 8,984,241 7,553,971 

          Liabilities          

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 (167,046) (98,329) - - (22,578) - ( 46,139) - 

Accrued expenses and other 
payables 

 (401,213) (165,923) (59,509) (37,878) (31,899) (32,700) 
 

(44,581) (28,723) 

Total liabilities (excluding 
net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable 
shares) 

  
(568,259) 

 
(264,252) 

 
(59,509) 

 
(37,878) 

 
(54,477) 

 
(32,700) 

 
( 90,720) 

 
(28,723) 

Net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares 

 101,830,535 45,398,935 15,202,172 6,242,584 6,036,473 12,530,602 8,893,521 7,525,248 

                    Represented by:          

Founder shares (notes 8 and 
10) 

 1,000        

Net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable 
shares calculated in 
accordance with the 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ 
memorandum 

 101,841,273 45,398,935 15,202,172 6,242,584 6,038,575 12,534,020 8,893,871 7,531,116 

Adjustment for formation 
expenses capitalised and 
amortised according to the 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ 
memorandum but 
recognised under 
International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as expenses when incurred 

 (11,738) - - - (2,102) (3,418) (350) (5,868) 

          
  101,830,535 45,398,935 15,202,172 6,242,584 6,036,473 12,530,602 8,893,521 7,525,248 
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As at 31 December 2017 
 

 
Approved by the Board on 16 April 2019 and signed on its behalf by: 
 

       
 

Carmel John Farrugia Nicholas Calamatta 
Director Director 

 
 
 
 
 

 CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 

Global High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 

Malta 
Governm
ent Bond 

Fund 

Emerging 
Markets Bond 

Fund USD 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Assets         

Financial assets at fair value           
through profit or loss 

 78,199,564 47,118,609 
 

13,999,045 7,527,234 5,367,453 1,612,575 2,574,648 

Prepayments and accrued 
income 

 1,082,785 768,282 
 

219,097 860 35,706 19,707 39,133 

Settlements receivable  10,266 9,266 
 

- - - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents  10,071,126 5,370,865 
 
 

1,929,658 167,947 553,582 252,705 1,793,795 

         
Total assets  89,363,741 53,267,022 16,147,800 7,696,041 5,956,741 1,884,987 4,407,576 

         Liabilities         

Accrued expenses and other 
payables 

 (347,864) (187,654) (62,496) (45,398) (31,011) (4,130) (17,175) 

Total liabilities (excluding  
net assets attributable to  
holders of redeemable  
shares) 

  
(347,864) 

 
(187,654) 

 
(62,496) 

 
(45,398) 

 
(31,011) 

 
(4,130) 

 
(17,175) 

Net assets attributable to  
holders of redeemable shares  

 89,013,303 53,079,368 16,085,304 7,650,643 5,925,730 1,880,857 4,390,401 

                  Represented by:         

Founder shares (notes 8 and 10)  1,000       

Net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares 
calculated in accordance with 
ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ 
memorandum 

 89,023,235 53,080,224 16,085,779 7,651,888 5,929,214 1,885,308 4,390,822 

Adjustment for IFRS fair value  - - - - - - - 

Adjustment for formation 
expenses capitalised and 
amortised according to the 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ 
memorandum but recognised 
under International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
expenses when incurred 

 (10,932) (856) (475) (1,245) (3,484) (4,451) (421) 

         
  89,013,303 53,079,368 16,085,304 7,650,643 5,925,730 1,880,857 4,390,401 
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Statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
shares   
 
 

 CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Global High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Govern-

ment Bond 
Funds 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
31 December 2017         
Net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares 
as at 1 January 2017 

89,013,303 53,079,368 16,085,304 7,650,643 5,925,730 1,880,857 4,390,401 - 

Amounts received on creation 
of shares 

31,635,612 2,353,072 957,888 1,825,530 2,057,293 10,618,406 6,271,825 7,551,598 

Amounts paid on redemption 
of shares 

(10,062,663) (5,017,419) (1,352,003) (1,841,289) (918,461) (14,608) (873,300) (45,583) 

(Decrease)/increase in net 
assets attributable to holders 
of redeemable shares 

(8,755,717) (5,016,086) (489,017) (1,392,300) (1,028,089) 45,947 (895,405) 19,233 

         

Net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable shares 
as at 31 December 2018 101,830,535 45,398,935 15,202,172 6,242,584 6,036,473 12,530,602 8,893,521 7,525,248 

         
 
 

 CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income Bond 

Fund 

Global High 
Income Bond 

Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Funds 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
31 December 2016        
Net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable shares as at 1 January 2017 

79,989,858 48,534,339 18,177,996 8,774,529 4,501,994 - - 

Amounts received on creation of shares 19,758,313 8,505,602 1,460,404 1,354,522 1,917,801 1,890,317 4,629,667 

Amounts paid on redemption of shares (10,495,174) (4,675,167) (1,520,645) (3,338,368) (929,936) (8,331) (22,727) 

(Decrease)/increase in net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable 
shares 

(239,694) 714,594 (2,032,451) 859,960 435,871 (1,129) (216,539) 

        

Net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable shares as at 31 December 
2017 89,013,303 53,079,368 16,085,304 7,650,643 5,925,730 1,880,857 4,390,401 

        

The notes on pages 23 to 63 are an integral part of these annual financial statements. 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

 
The notes on pages 23 to 63 are an integral part of these annual financial statements. 

  1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018  

  CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Global High 
Income Bond 

Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Govern-

ment Bond 
Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

EUR 

 

16,670 

- 

4,351 

(62,771) 

281 

 

84,073 

 

 

(7,273) 

(5,152) 

(731) 

- 

(4,388) 

- 

(2,975) 

(6,180) 

 

(26,699) 

 

57,374 

 

 

 

- 

 

57,374 

 

 

- 

 

bggEmerging Markets Bond Fund 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR  EUR 

Income            

Interest income  3,921,355 2,332,562 833,857 - 99,074 194,662 405,669 55,531   16,670  
Dividend income  303,498 25,497 14,573 146,412 86,660 - 1,269 29,087   -    

Net (losses)/ gains  
on financial assets 
at fair value 
through profit or 
loss 

 (10,153,859) (4,902,985) (1,131,887) (1,332,071) (997,895) (21,225) (1,806,971) 39,175   4,351  

Net gains/(losses) 
on derivative 
instruments that 
are held for 
trading 

 464,390 35,532  - (72,393)  501,251 - (62,771) 

Other income  6,349 4,477 1,357 41 10 - 464 -  281  

          

Net investment 
gain/(loss) 

 (5,458,267) (2,504,917) (282,100) (1,185,618) (884,544) 173,437 ( 898,318) 123,793 

          

Expenses          

Management fees  (981,512) (500,221) (156,430) (99,251) (77,464) (35,078) (87,693) (25,375) 

Administration fee  (220,400) (76,234) (23,911) (30,000) (12,500) (30,000) (30,002) (17,753) 

Custody fees   (69,452) (26,784) (10,031) (7342) (6,238) (7,382) (8,173) (3,502) 

Legal fees   (3,821) (2,244) (700) (331) (258) (74) (154) (60) 

Audit fees  (28,637) (4,130) (4,001) (4,130) (4,130) (4,188) (3,928) (4,130) 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ŦŜŜǎ  (16,138) (8,931) (2,877) (1,325) (1,064) (687) (1,008) (246) 

Transaction fee  (62,832) (15,060) (4,425) (5,520) (2,864) (15,726) (9,554) (9,683) 

Other fees and 
charges 

 (250,490) (94,285) (32,069) (19,599) (20,259) (17,510) (35,779) (30,989) 

          

Total operating 
expenses 

 (1,633,282) (727,889) (234,444) (167,498) (124,777) (110,645) (176,291) (91,738) 

          

Operating 
(loss)/profit  

 (7,091,549) (3,232,806) (516,544) 
 

(1,353,116) (1,009,321) 62,792 (1,074,609) 32,055 

          

          

Finance costs          

Distributions to 
holders of 
redeemable 
shares 

 (2,605,395) (1,781,408) (671,302) - - - (152,685) - 

          

(Loss) /Profit 
before tax 

 (9,696,944) (5,014,214) (1,187,846) (1,353,116) (1,009,321) 62,792 (1,227,294) 32,055 

          

Withholding taxes  (89,521) (1,872) (30) (39,184) (18,768) (16,845) - (12,822) 
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 
 
 
 

 
 
  

  1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018   
  CC Funds 

SICAV plc 
Euro High 

Income Bond 
Fund 

Global High 
Income Bond 

Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 
 
- 

4,351 
(62,771) 

281 
 

84,073 
 
 

(7,273) 
(5,152) 
(731) 

- 
(4,388) 

- 
(2,975) 
(6,180) 

 
(26,699) 

 
57,374 

 
 
 
- 
 

57,374 
 
 
- 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
          Decrease in net assets 
attributable  
to holders of 
redeemable shares 

 (9,786,465) (5,016,086) (1,187,876) (1,392,300) (1,028,089) 45,947 (1,227,294) 19,233 

          Other comprehensive 
income 

         

Items that may be 
reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss:  

         

Exchange rate 
differences arising on 
translation 

 1,030,748 - 698,859 - - - 331,889 - 

Total comprehensive  
income/ 
(expense) for the year 
 

 
(8,755,717) 

 
(5,016,086) 

 
(489,017) 

 
(1,392,300) 

 
(1,028,089) 

 
45,947 

 
(895,405) 

 
19,233 
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  1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

  CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income Bond 

Fund 

Global High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Governmen
t Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Income         

Interest income  3,068,384 2,108,898 827,529 - 93,136 22,151 16,670 

Dividend income  279,339 28,488 16,127 173,654 61,070 - - 

Net gains/(losses) on 
financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 3,121,569 1,328,217 349,379 948,735 496,523 (5,635) 4,351 

Net gains/(losses) on 
derivative instruments that 
are held for trading 

 (103,718) (48,562)  (30,903) (87,025)  62,771 

Other income  10,842 7,399 2,647 - 515 - 281 

         

Net investment gain/(loss)  6,376,416 3,424,440 1,195,682 1,091,486 564,219 16,516 84,073 

         

Expenses         

Management fees  (872,958) (518,009) (169,668) (111,559) (66,449) - (7,273) 

Administration fees  (153,640) (79,826) (26,162) (30,000) (12,500) - (5,152) 

Custody fees   (53,490) (28,176) (10,196) (8,206) (5,293) (888) (731) 

Legal fees   (3,667) (2,094) (863) (486) (224) -) - 

Audit fees  (26,384) (4,460) (5,034) (4,207) (4,165) (4,130) (4,388) 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ŦŜŜǎ  (17,997) (10,081) (4,496) (2,340) (1,080) - - 

Transaction fee  (54,112) (23,457) (6,171) (12,674) (7,061) (1,774) (2,975) 

Other fees and charges  (186,822) (98,452) (33,822) (22,877) (16,108) (9,383) (6,180) 

         

Total operating expenses  (1,369,070) (764,555) (256,412) (192,349) (112,880) (16,175) (26,699) 

         

Operating profit  5,007,346 2,659,885 939,270 899,137 451,339 341 57,374 

         

         

Finance costs         

Distributions to holders of 
redeemable shares 

 (2,659,200) (1,945,291) (713,909) - - - - 

         

Profit/(loss) before tax  2,348,146 714,594 225,361 899,137 451,339 341 57,374 

         

         

Withholding taxes  (56,402) - (287) (39,177) (15,468) (1,470) - 
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  1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017  

  CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Global High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Govern-

ment Bond 
Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

         

Increase in net assets 
attributable  
to holders of redeemable 
shares  

 
 

2,291,744 714,594 225,074 859,960 435,871 (1,129) 

 
 
 
 

(57,374) 

         
Other comprehensive 
income        

 

Items that may be 
reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss:         

 

Exchange rate differences 
arising on translation  (2,531,438) - (2,257,525) - - - 

 
 

(273,913) 

Total comprehensive  
income/(expense) for the 
year 

 

(239,694) 714,594 (2,032,451) 859,960 435,871 (1,129) 

 
 
 

(216,539) 
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Statement of cash flows 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

 
The notes on pages 23 to 63 are an integral part of these annual financial statements. 

 

   
 CC Funds 

SICAV plc 
Euro High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Global High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

Malta 
Balances 

Income Bond 
Fund 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cash flows from/(used in) 
operating activities 

        

(Loss)/profit after distributions 
and before tax  

(9,696,944) (5,014,214) (1,187,846) (1,353,116) (1,009,321) 62,792 (1,227,294) 32,055 

Adjustments for:         

Interest income (3,921,355) (2,332,562) (833,857) - (99,074) (194,662) (405,669) (55,531) 

Dividend income (303,498) (25,497) (14,573) (146,412) (86,660) - (1,269) (29,087) 

Distributions paid to holders of 
redeemable shares 

2,605,395 1,781,408 671,302 - - - 152,685 - 

         
Net movement in financial 
assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 

(11,042,056) 8,094,423 
 

526,814 1,259,438 130,207 (10,040,945) (5,207,878) (5,804,115) 
 

Movement in other receivables (34,882) 7,857 3,198 (39,308) 2,577 63 (124) (9,145) 

Movement in accrued 
expenses and other payables 

53,349 (21,731) (2,987) (7,520) 888 28,570 27,406 28,723 

         

Cash flows from/(used in) 
operations 

(22,339,991) 2,489,684 (837,949) (286,918) (1,061,383) (10,144,182) (6,662,143) (5,837,100) 

Interest received 3,774,778 2,407,224 829,989 - 98,774 116,419 310,698 11,674 

Dividends received 303,498 25,497 14,573 146,412 86,660 - 1,269 29,087 

Tax paid  (89,521) (1,872) (30) (39,184) (18,768) (16,845) - (12,822) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) 
operating activities 

(18,351,236) 4,920,533 6,583 (179,690) (894,717) (10,044,608) (6,350,176) (5,809,161) 

         
Cash flows from/(used in) 
financing activities 

        

Distributions paid to holders of 
redeemable  shares 

(2,605,395) (1,781,408) (671,302) - - - (152,685) - 

Proceeds from creation of 
units 

31,635,612 2,353,072 957,888 1,825,530 2,057,293 10,618,406 6,271,825 7,551,598 

Outflows from redemption of 
units 

(10,062,663) (5,017,419) (1,352,003) (1,841,289) (918,461) (14,608) (873,300) (45,583) 

Cash flows from/(used in)  
financing activities 

18,967,554 (4,445,755) (1,065,417) (15,759) 1,138,832 10,603,798 5,245,840 7,506,015 

Effect of exchange rate 
fluctuations on translation of 
cash flows from functional to 
presentation currency 

1,030,748 - 698,859 - - - 331,889 - 

         
Net increase/(decrease) in 
cash and cash equivalents 

1,647,066 474,778 (359,975) (195,449) 244,115 559,190 (772,447) 1,696,854 

         
Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the year 

10,068,552 5,370,865 1,929,658 167,947 553,582 252,705 1,793,795 - 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the year                                                    

11,715,618 5,845,643 1,569,683 (27,502) 797,697 811,895 1,021,348 1,696,854 
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 

 

  

  

 CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Global High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Governmen
t Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cash flows from/(used in) 
operating activities 

       

Profit after distributions and 
before tax  

2,348,146 714,594 225,361 899,137 451,339 341 57,374 

Adjustments for:        
Interest income (3,068,384) (2,108,898) (827,529) - (93,136) (22,151) (16,670) 

Dividend income (279,339) (28,488) (16,127) (173,654) (61,070) - - 

Withholding tax (287) - (287) - - - - 

Distributions paid to 
holders of redeemable 
shares 

2,659,200 1,945,291 713,909 - - - - 

        
Net increase in financial assets 
at fair value through profit or 
loss 

(16,033,915) (10,688,773) (920,885) 776,759 (1,013,793) (1,612,575) (2,574,648) 

Movement in other 
receivables 

2,432 3,182 3,542 35 (2,572) (1,148) (607) 

Movement in accrued 
expenses and other payables 

50,507 22,561 (1,684) 2,652 6,156 4,130 17,175 

        

Cash flows from/(used in) 
operations 

(14,321,640) (10,140,531) (823,700) 1,504,929 (713,076) (1,631,403) (2,517,376) 

Interest received 2,813,506 1,938,792 807,125 - 85,853 3,592 (21,856) 

Dividends received 284,829 28,488 16,127 176,094 64,120 - - 

Tax paid  (56,115) - - (39,177) (15,468) (1,470) - 

Net cash flows from/(used in) 
operating activities 

(11,279,420) (8,173,251) (448) 1,641,846 (578,571) (1,629,281) (2,539,232) 

        
Cash flows from/(used in) 
financing activities 

       

Distributions paid to holders of 
redeemable  shares 

(2,659,200) (1,945,291) (713,909) - - - - 

Proceeds from creation of 
units 

19,758,313 8,505,602 1,460,404 1,354,522 1,917,801 1,890,317 4,629,667 

Outflows from redemption of 
units 

(10,495,174) (4,675,167) (1,520,645) (3,338,368) (929,936) (8,331) (22,727) 

Cash flows from/(used in)  
financing activities 

6,603,939 1,885,144 (774,150) (1,983,846) 987,865 1,881,986 4,606,940 

Effect of exchange rate 
fluctuations on translation of 
cash flows from functional to 
presentation currency 

(2,531,438) - (2,257,525) - - - (273,913) 

        
Net increase/(decrease) in 
cash and cash equivalents 

(7,206,919) (6,288,107) (3,032,123) (342,000) 409,294 252,705 1,793,795 

        
Cash and cash equivalents at 
the beginning of the year 

17,278,045 11,658,972 4,961,781 509,947 144,288 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
the end of the year                                                    

10,071,126 5,370,865 1,929,658 167,947 553,582 252,705 1,793,795 
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Notes to the annual financial statements 
 

1. Reporting Entity 
 
CC Funds SICAV plc (formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) όǘƘŜ ά/ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύ ƛǎ ŀƴ ƻǇŜƴ-ended collective 
investment scheme organised as a multi-fund public limited liability company with variable share capital (SICAV) 
incorporated in Malta in terms of the Companies Act, 1995 (Cap 386, Laws of Malta) on 3 June 2011 with registration 
number SV186. The CƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǉǳŀƭƛŦƛŜǎ ŀǎ ŀ ΨaŀƭǘŜǎŜ ¦/L¢{Ω ƛƴ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ Services Act (Marketing of UCITS) 
Regulations (S.L. 370.18, Laws of Malta) and has its registered address in Ewropa Business Centre, Dun Karm Street, 
Birkirkara, BKR 9034, Malta. 
  
These financial statements comprise the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ financial statements which include the following licensed sub-funds 
όǘƘŜ άǎǳō-ŦǳƴŘǎέύ at 31 December 2018: Euro High Income Bond Fund, Global High Income Bond Fund, Euro Equity Fund, 
Global Balanced Income Fund (licenced 7 August 2015), Malta Government Bond Fund (licenced 1 March 2017) which 
is listed on the Malta Stock Exchange, Emerging Markets Bond Fund (licenced 1 October 2017) and Malta Balanced 
Income Fund (licenced 12 February 2018). 
 
In March 2019, the name of the SICAV changed from Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc to CC Funds SICAV plc. 
!ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƻǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ŎƘŀƴƎŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ Calamatta Cuschieri Fund Services Limited to CC Fund Services (Malta) Limited. 
Additionally, CC High Income Bond Fund EUR changed to Euro High Income Bond Fund, CC High Income Bond Fund USD 
name changed to Global High Income Bond Fund and Malta Income Fund name changed to Malta Balanced Income 
Fund. 
 
 

2.     Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies 
 

2.1. Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements have been prepared and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
{ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ ŀǎ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 9¦ όάǘƘŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ŦǊŀƳŜǿƻǊƪέύΦ  !ƭƭ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǘƻ L!{Σ LCw{ 
or SIC/IFRIC interpretations refer to those adopted by the EU. These financial statements have also been prepared and 
presented in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1995 (Cap 386, Laws of Malta). 
 

2.2. Basis of measurement 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss which are measured at fair value. 
 

2.3. Functional and presentation currency 

 
The financial statements are presented in Euro (EUR), which is the presentation currency of the seven sub-funds, 
rounded to the nearest unit. The Euro is also the functional currency of the Euro High Income Bond Fund, Global 
Balanced Income Fund, Euro Equity Fund, Malta Balanced Income Fund and the Malta Government Bond Fund. The 
functional currency of the Global High Income Bond Fund and the Emerging Markets Bond Fund is the USD. 
 

2.4. Use of estimates and judgements 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the applicable framework requires the Directors to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect both the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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In prior year the company held investments in collective investments schemes of which EUR945,565 did not have a co-
terminous year-end with that of the company and thus could not be valued on independently audited net asset values. 
The valuation of these investments was calculated by the respective administrators of the collective investment 
schemes. Estimates and underlying assumptions were reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
were recognised in the period in which the estimates were revised and in any future periods affected. As at the year 
end of the financial year 2018 there were no such investments in collective investment schemes. 
 
In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing these financial 
statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant their descriptions as significant and 
critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1 (revised). 
 

3. Significant accounting policies  

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently during the year. 
 

3.1. Foreign currency translations  

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to 
the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is 
the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective 
interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at 
the end of the year.  
 
The functional currency of the Global High Income Bond Fund and the Emerging Markets Bond Fund is the USD. As 
allowed by sub-legislation 386.02 of the Companies Act (Investment Companies with Variable Share Capital) 
Regulations, a Company with sub-funds whose capital is denominated in different currencies may elect to present its 
financial statements in any one of these currencies. Consequently, the financial statements of the Company are 
presented in Euro being the currency in which the majority of the sub-fundsΩ share capital is denominated. For the 
purpose of presenting these financial statements, income and expenses (including comparatives) are translated from 
the functional currency to Euro at the exchange rates ruling on the date of the transaction. Assets and liabilities 
(including comparatives) are translated from the functional currency to Euro at the exchange rate ruling at the date of 
the statement of financial position. Exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 

3.2. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

3.2.1. Recognition 

 
The Company recognises financial assets on the date it commits to purchase the assets, using trade date accounting. 
From this date any gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recorded in the period 
in which they arise. 
 
Where applicable, interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is disclosed within the line item 
Ψƛnterest incomeΩ, while dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within dividend income. Fair value gains or losses are 
recognised within Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends to settle on a net basis 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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3.2.2. Classification and measurement 

 
Comparative year  
 
The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories: 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
 
(i) Held for trading ς derivative financial instruments; 
(ii) Designated as at fair value through profit or loss ς Portfolio assets other than derivative financial instruments. 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 
 
(i) Held for trading ς derivative financial instruments. 
 
A financial asset or financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if on initial recognition is part of a portfolio of identifiable financial 
investments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit 
taking.  
 
Derivative financial assets and derivative financial liabilities are classified as held for trading unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments. During the year under review, the Company did not designate any of its derivative 
financial instruments in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes.  
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are financial 

instruments that are not classified as held for trading but are managed, and their performance is evaluated on a fair 

value basis in accordance with the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŜŘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅΦ 

 

Financial liabilities include all financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss and 
comprise accrued expenses and settlements payable.  
 
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value 
with changes in their fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.   
 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment losses, if any.  

 
Settlement and other receivables are stated at their nominal value. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 
 
Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are stated at their nominal value unless the 
effect of discounting is material in which case such liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method.   
 
When applying the effective interest method, the annual amortisation of any discount or premium is aggregated with 
other investment income receivable over the term of the instrument, if any, so that the revenue recognised in each year 
represents a constant yield on the investment. 
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Current year 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at FVTPL on the 
basis of both: 
 

¶ ¢ƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƳƻŘŜƭ ŦƻǊ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΤ ŀƴŘ  

¶ The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 
  
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost include term deposits, other receivables (representing amounts receivable for transactions contracted 
for but not yet delivered by the end of the period) and cash and cash equivalents.  
 
An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a financial asset. 
The Company determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed 
together to achieve a particular business objective. 

 

For financial assets at amortised cost, appropriate allowances for expected credit losses όΨ9/[ǎΩύ ŀǊŜ ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǎŜŘ ƛƴ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ 
ƻǊ ƭƻǎǎ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ƻƴ 9/[ǎΦ 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
 
A financial asset is measured at FVTPL if it is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect 
contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell or its contractual terms do not give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
 
At initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL when doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.  
 
 
The Company includes in this category, derivative contracts in an asset position, financial assets classified as held for 
ǘǊŀŘƛƴƎΣ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŘΣ ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ ōŀǎƛǎ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ CǳƴŘǎΩ 
documented investment strategy, and those financial investments and term deposits whose contractual cash flows do 
not solely represent payments of principal and interest, which are mandatorily measured at FVTPL. 
 

3.2.3. Fair value measurement principles 

The fair value of quoted financial instruments is based on their quoted market prices at the reporting date without any 
deduction for estimated future selling costs and adjusted for any tax effect on the maturity of such instruments. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are priced at current mid-market or the last traded price where this falls within 
the bid-ask yield. 
 
Unquoted investments are valued at initial value restated at fair value as determined by the Directors, acting on the 
advice of the Investment Manager or such other person commissioned and appointed from time to time for that 
purpose by the Directors. The fair value is eǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ǳǎƛƴƎ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ǘŜŎƘƴƛǉǳŜǎΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǊŜŎŜƴǘ ŀǊƳΩǎ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ 
market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation techniques that provide a reliable estimate of prices 
obtained in actual market transactions.  
 
Investments in collective investment schemes (private investment funds) are valued at fair value, as determined by the 
administrator of the private investment fund and/or based on the independently audited net asset values of the private 
investment funds.  
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For those private investment funds for which independently audited financial statements are not available or their year-
end is not co-terminous with that of the Company, the board of directors bases its valuation on the private investments 
ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƴŜǘ ŀǎǎŜǘ ǾŀƭǳŜǎ ŀǎ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŀŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƻǊ ƻŦ ǎǳŎƘ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ŦǳƴŘǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ŘŀǘŜΦ Lǘ ƛǎ 
possible that the underlying private invesǘƳŜƴǘ ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ Ƴŀȅ ǎǳōǎŜǉǳŜƴǘƭȅ ōŜ ŀŘƧǳǎǘŜŘ ǿƘŜƴ ǎǳŎƘ ǊŜǎǳƭǘǎ ŀǊŜ 
subjected to an audit, and the adjustments may be material. In determining fair value, the administrator utilises the 
valuations of the underlying private investment funds to determine the fair value of its interest. The underlying private 
investment funds value securities and other financial instruments on a mark-to-market of fair value basis of accounting.  
 
The fair value of investments that are not exchange-traded is estimated at the amount that the Company would receive, 
or pay, to terminate the contract at the reporting date, taking into account current market conditions, volatility, 
appropriate yield curve and the current creditworthiness of the counterparties.  
 

3.2.4. Identification and measurement of impairment 

 
Comparative year  
 
The carrying amount of financial assets other than those at fair value through profit or loss are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication or objective evidence of impairment. If any such indication 
or objective evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 
 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the issuer (or 
counterparty), a breach of contract, indications that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation, the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties and 
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows since the initial 
recognition of those assets. If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income as the difference between the assetΩǎ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ 
ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜŘ ŦǳǘǳǊŜ ŎŀǎƘ Ŧƭƻǿǎ ŘƛǎŎƻǳƴǘŜŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǊŀǘŜǎΦ 
 
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of an impairment loss recognised on a financial asset other than a financial asset 
at fair value through profit or loss decreases and the reduction in value can be linked objectively to an event occurring 
after the write-down, this is reversed through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Where 
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
 
Current year 
 
The Company recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on the following ς financial assets at amortised cost. 
 
Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases: 
 

¶ 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting 
date; and 

¶ Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. 

 

¶ The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which 
are measured as 12-month ECLs: 

 

¶ Financial assets that are determined to have a low credit risk at the reporting date; and 

¶ Other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial 
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition. 

 
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes 
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in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower 
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has 
ŀƴ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ƻǊ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǊŀǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ΨƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ƎǊŀŘŜΩ ŀǎ ǇŜǊ Ǝƭƻōŀƭƭȅ ǳƴŘŜǊǎǘƻƻŘ ŘŜŦƛƴƛǘƛƻƴǎΦ ¢ƻ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜƴǘ 
applicable, the Company has applied the low credit risk assumption for the following classes of financial assets ς cash 
at bank and term deposits. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and 
when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort. In this regard, the Company has an internal credit scoring system in place that analyses 
the credit quality of the counterparties accordingly. Such credit scoring system takes into consideration both 
ǉǳŀƴǘƛǘŀǘƛǾŜ ŀƴŘ ǉǳŀƭƛǘŀǘƛǾŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŀƴŀƭȅǎƛǎΣ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŜŘ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ 
assessment, and also considers the couƴǘŜǊǇŀǊǘƛŜǎΩ ƳŀŎǊƻŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ŎƻƴǘŜȄǘΦ 
 
The Company has elected the rebuttable presumption from IFRS 9 by assuming that the credit risk on a financial asset 
has increased significantly if the financial asset is more than 30 days past due.  
 
Moreover, unless the low credit risk assumption is applied, if the counterparty becomes downgraded by two notches 
όƻǊ ƳƻǊŜύ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ǎŎƻǊŜ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŘŜŜƳǎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ Ǌƛǎƪ ǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ƛƴŎǊŜŀǎŜŘ 
significantly.  
 
Moreover, the Company considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
 

¶ The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company 
to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or 

¶ The financial asset is more than 90 days past due.  
 
The maximum period considered when estimated ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is 
exposed to credit risk.  
 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable 
data about the following events: significant financial difficulty; a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 
ǘƘŜ ƭŜƴŘŜǊόǎύ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ōƻǊǊƻǿŜǊΣ ŦƻǊ ŜŎƻƴƻƳƛŎ ƻǊ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǳŀƭ ǊŜŀǎƻƴǎ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ōƻǊǊƻǿŜǊΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŘƛŦŦƛŎǳƭǘȅΣ ƘŀǾƛƴƎ 
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; it is becoming probable that 
the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties.  
 
The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  
 
For financial assets, the credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. ECLs represent the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default 
occurring as the weights. 
 
Under IFRS 9, the Company has incorporated forward-looking information, where applicable. A third party provider has 
been engaged to provide forward-looking PDs and LGDs. 
 

3.2.5. Derecognition 

 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the 
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statement of financial position.  On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of 
the asset (and the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised), and the consideration received 
(including any new asset obtained, less any new liability assumed) is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.  
 

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial position, but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or 
substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognised. Transfers of assets 
with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards would include, for example, securities lending and repurchase 
transactions. The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled 
or expire.   
 

3.3. Redeemable shares 

 
The Company classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual terms of instruments.  
 

The redeemable shares provide investors with the right to require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the 
ƛƴǾŜǎǘƻǊΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǳō-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƴŜǘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŘŜƳǇǘƛƻƴ ŘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ ŀƭǎƻ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŜǾŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎǳō-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƭƛǉǳƛŘŀǘƛƻƴΦ  
 

The redeemable shares are classified as financial liabilities form the perspective of the company and are measured at 
the present value of the redemption amounts.  
 

3.4. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash comprises current deposits with banks with original maturities of less than three months. Cash equivalents are 
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than 
for investment or other purposes. 
 

3.5. Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares 

 
¢ƘŜ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ōȅ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǘƻ ƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǊŜŘŜŜƳŀōƭŜ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ƛǎ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ŀǎ άbŜǘ 
ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀǘǘǊƛōǳǘŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǊŜŘŜŜƳŀōƭŜ ǎƘŀǊŜǎέ ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜŘ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǎƛŘǳŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇany 
after deducting all other liabilities.  
 

3.6. Interest income and dividend income 

 
Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as it accrues using the 
effective interest method and, where applicable, gross of withholding tax. Dividend income is recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 
 

3.7. Finance costs 

 

Proposed distributions to holders of redeemable shares are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income when they are appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the Company. This 
typically occurs when proposed distribution is ratified at the Annual General Meeting. The distribution on the 
redeemable shares is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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3.8. Net gains/(losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

 
 Net gains/losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised and 
unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences but excludes interest and dividend income. Net realised 
gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss is calculated using the first-in-first-out method.  
 

3.9. Expenses 

 

All expenses, including management fees, administration fees and custodian fees, are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on an accrual basis and are accordingly expensed as incurred. Formation 
expenses are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
 

Transaction costs are costs incurred to acquire financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They 
include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs, when incurred, are 
immediately recognised in profit or loss as an expense. 
 

3.10. Taxation 

 
Under the current system of taxation in Malta, the Company is exempt from paying taxes on income, profits or capital 
gains. Dividend and interest income received by the Company may be subject to withholding tax imposed in the country 
of origin. 
 

3.11. Initial application of International Financial Reporting Standards and International Financial Reporting 
Standards in issue but not yet effective 

 

 Initial application of International Financial Reporting Standards 
 

LCw{ ф ΨCƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ LƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜ ŦƻǊ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ǇŜǊƛƻŘǎ ōŜƎƛƴƴƛƴƎ ƻƴ ƻǊ ŀŦǘŜǊ м WŀƴǳŀǊȅ нлмуΦ Lǘ ŀŘŘǊŜǎǎŜǎ 
the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities and replaces the multiple 
classification and measurement models in IAS 39. 
 
/ƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ƳŜŀǎǳǊŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŘŜōǘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƛǎ ŘǊƛǾŜƴ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƳƻŘŜƭ ŦƻǊ ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if 
the objective of the business model is to hold the financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows and the 
contractual cash flows under the instrument solely represent payments of principal and interest (SPPI). A debt 
instrument is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if the objective of the business model is to 
hold the financial asset both to collect contractual cash flows from SPPI and to sell. All other debt instruments must be 
recognised at fair value through profit or loss. An entity may however, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a 
financial asset as measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency. Derivative and equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit 
or loss unless, for equity instruments not held for trading, an irrevocable option is taken to measure at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. IFRS 9 also introduces a new expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model. 
 
The Company has elected not to restate its comparative information for the effects of IFRS 9 and such information 
continues to be reported under IAS 39. In terms of this approach, any difference between the previous carrying amount 
and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual reporting period that includes the date of initial application is 
recognised in equity at 1 January 2018. 
 
IFRS 9 has been applied retrospectively by the company and did not result in a change to the classification or 
measurement of financial instruments. There was no material impact on adoption from the application of the new 
impairment model. 
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The Company does not designate any of its financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition and accordingly the change introduced by IFRS 9 in this respect does not affect these financial statements. 
 
 
The table below illustrates the classification and measurement of financial assets, on a consolidated basis, under IFRS 9 
and IAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. 
 

   

New  
measurement 

category  
under IFRS 9 

Original carrying 
amount under IAS 39 / 
New carrying amount 

under IFRS 9 

  

 

Original 
measurement 

category  
under IAS 39 

   EUR 
Financial 
investments at 
fair value 
through profit 
or loss ς shares, 
bonds, stocks 
and other 

Financial assets 
at FVTPL 

Financial assets 
measured at FVTPL 78,199,564 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Loans and 
receivables 

Financial assets 
measured at 
amortised cost 10,071,126 

     

 
 
Cash at bank  
 
Cash at bank that was previously classified as loans and receivables is classified in terms of IFRS 9 as financial assets 
measured at amortised cost if it meets the conditions for such classification. In accordance with the transitional 
provisions of IFRS 9, the Company assessed the business model in which the financial assets are held on the basis of the 
facts and circumstances at 1 January 2018 and the resulting classification is being applied retrospectively irrespective of 
ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ƳƻŘŜƭ ƛn prior reporting periods. Accordingly, there was no change in the carrying amount of 
these instruments at 1 January 2018 as a result of the new classification in terms of IFRS 9. In terms of IFRS 9, the 
Company applies an ECL model as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. For such amounts, the ECL 
model did not result in material loss allowances at 1 January 2018 because of the use of the low credit risk exemption. 
 
Debt investments that were designated as at FVTPL in terms of IAS 39 
 
Debt investments that were previously designated as at FVTPL are classified in terms of IFRS 9 as financial assets 
measured at FVTPL unless they meet both criteria below: 
 
- they are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows or they are held within 
a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and to sell, and 
- they have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
 
The CompŀƴȅΩǎ ŘŜōǘ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ŘƛŘ ƴƻǘ ƳŜŜǘ ōƻǘƘ ŎǊƛǘŜǊƛŀ ŀōƻǾŜ ŀƴŘ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎƭȅΣ ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ ƴƻ ŎƘŀƴƎŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 
carrying amount of these instruments at 1 January 2018 as a result of the new classification in terms of IFRS 9. 
 
 
Equity and other investments that were designated as at FVTPL in terms of IAS 39 
 
Equity and other instruments that were previously designated as at FVTPL continue to be measured at FVTPL in terms 
of IFRS 9. Accordingly, there was no change in the carrying amount of these instruments at 1 January 2018 as a result 
of the new classification in terms of IFRS 9. 
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International Financial Reporting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 
IAS 1 & IAS 8 Amendment ς Definition of material 
 
The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied by including in the definition guidance 
that until now has featured elsewhere in IFRS Standards. In addition, the explanations accompanying the definition 
have been improved. Finally, the amendments ensure that the definition of material is consistent across all IFRS 
Standards. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 
 
The directors anticipate that the adoption of other International Financial Reporting Standards that were in issue at the 
date of authorisation of these financial statements but not yet effective will have no material impact on the financial 
statements of the company in the period of initial application. 
 

4. Share capital 

 
¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƛǎ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŘŜŜƳŀōƭŜ shares outstanding. The number of shares at the end of the 
year is analysed below: 
 

 Number of shares 
 

 Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 

Global High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

        
31 December 2018        

Units issued        

   Class A - EUR 29,830 - 64,668 625,449 125,629 - 23,122 
   Class A - USD - 16,767 - - - 6,906 - 
   Class B - EUR - - - 12,477 - - 51,949 
   Class B - USD - - - - - 21,817 - 
   Class C - EUR - - - - - 14,887 - 
   Class D - EUR 467,686 - - - - 60,021 - 
   Class D - USD  176,743 - - -   

 497,516 193,510 64,668 637,926 125,629 103,631 75,071 

 
 
 
 

 Number of shares 
 

 Euro  High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 

Global High 
Income 

Bond Fund 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

       
31 December 2017       

Units issued       

   Class A - EUR 34,105 - 64,710 531,198 18,768 - 
   Class A - USD - 21,357 - - - 4,151 
   Class B - USD - - - - - 13,696 
   Class C - EUR - - - - - 8,111 
   Class D - EUR 490,338 - - - - 21,348 
   Class D - USD  176,047 - - -  

 524,443 197,404 64,710 531,198 18,768 47,306 

 
Analysed as follows: 
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 Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Global High 
Income 

Bond Fund 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

31 December 2017        

Units in issue as at 1 
January 2018 524,443 197,404 64,710 531,198 18,768 47,306 - 

Creation of units during the 
year 

       

 Class A - EUR 7,139 - 15,724 177,789 107,007 - 23,216 
 Class A - USD - 396 - - - 3,164 - 
 Class B - EUR - - - 12,477 - - 52,310 
 Class B - USD - - - - - 9,093 - 
 Class C - EUR - - - - - 8,762 - 
 Class D - EUR  15,255 - - - - 45,100 - 
     Class D - USD - 11,801 - - - - - 
        
Redemption of units during 
the year (11,414) - (15,766) (83,538) (146) - (94) 
 Class A - EUR - (4,986) - - - (409) - 
 Class A - USD - - - - - (972) - 
 Class B - EUR - - - - - - (361) 
 Class B - USD - - - - - (1,986) - 
 Class C - EUR (37,907) - - - - (6,427) - 
 Class D - EUR  - (11,105) - - - - - 
     Class D - USD        

        Units in issue as at 31 
December 2018 497,516 193,510 64,668 637,926 125,629 103,631 75,071 

 
 
 
 

 Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Global  High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

 

Emerging 
Markets Bond 

Fund 

31 December 2016       

Units in issue as at 1 January 
2017 485,316 197,716 81,943 439,031 - - 

Creation of units during the year       

 Class A - EUR 9,151 - 11,824 178,375 18,851 - 
 Class A - USD - 672    4151 
 Class B - USD - - - - - 13,716 
 Class C - EUR - - - - - 8,111 
 Class D - EUR  74,528 - - - - 21,552 
    Class D - USD - 16,498 - - - - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Redemption of units during the 
year 

(10,374) - (29,058) (86,209) (83) - 
 Class A - EUR - (2,363) - - - - 
 Class A - USD - - - - - (20) 
 Class B ς USD - - - - - - 
 Class C ς EUR (34,178) - - - - (204) 
 Class D - EUR  - (15,119) - - - - 
 Class D - USD  - - - - - - 

       

Units in issue as at 31 December 
2017 

524,443 197,404 64,710 531,198 18,768 47,306 
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The authorised share capital of the Company amounting to 1,000,001,000 shares has not been assigned any nominal value. The 
paid-up share capital of the Company shall at all times be equal to the net asset value of the sub-funds. The Company was 
incorporated by the issue of 1,000 founder shares with no nominal value.  The effect of the proceeds from the issue of the 
founder shares is reflected in the combined amounts in these annual financial statements. 
 
 
  

5. Dividends 

  
During the year the following sub-funds declared and paid dividends as follows: 
 

 Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Global High Income 
Bond Fund 

 
 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
EUR 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 
USD 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31 December 2018     

     
Dividend paid on 31.03.2018     

Dividend per share 1.8429 2.2870 0.4930 0.5026 
Total distributions 

896,199 406,658 21,571 8,506 
     
     
Dividend paid on 30.09.2018     
Dividend per share  1.8630 2.2376 1.6014 1.6602 
Total distributions  885,208 395,985 93,650 35,461 
     
     
31 December 2017     

     
Dividend paid on 31.03.2017     

Dividend per share  2.1712 2.3089   
Total distributions  

987,224 394,556   
     
     
Dividend paid on 30.09.2017     
Dividend per share  1.9552 2.3279   
Total distributions  958,066 405,814   
   

 
 

6. Management fees and other expenses 
 

(a) Management fees 

Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 

 
The Investment Manager receives a fee of 1% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as reimbursement 
of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 500,221 (2017: EUR 518,009) of which EUR 122,815 (2017: EUR 
138,438) was due to the Investment Manager as at the reporting date. 
 
Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 
The Manager receives a fee of 1% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as reimbursement of out-
of-pocket expenses. 
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The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 156,430 (2017: EUR 169,668) of which EUR 40,309 (2017: EUR 
41,873) was due to the Investment Manager as at the reporting date. 
 
 
Euro Equity Fund 
 
The Investment Manager receives a fee of 1.35% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 99,251 (2017: EUR 111,559) of which EUR 23,473 (2017: EUR 
27,408) was due to the Investment Manager as at the reporting date. 
 
Global Balanced Income Fund  
 
The Investment Manager receives a fee of 1.25% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 77,464 (2017: EUR 66,449) of which EUR 20,802 (2017: EUR 
19,608) was due to the Investment Manager as at the reporting date. 
 
Malta Government Bond Fund 
 
The Investment Manager receives a fee of 0.50% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 35,078 (2017: EUR NIL) of which EUR 15,067 (2017: EUR NIL) was 
due to the Investment Manager as at the reporting date. 
 
Emerging Markets Bond Fund 
 
The Investment Manager receives a fee of 1.10% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 87,693 (2017: EUR 7,273) of which EUR 25,108 (2017: EUR 7,273) 
was due to the Investment Manager as at the reporting date. 
 
Malta Balanced Income Fund (formerly Malta Income Fund) 
 
The Investment Manager receives a fee of 0.80% of the net asset value of the sub-fund per annum as well as 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The management fees incurred for the year were EUR 25,375 of which EUR 13,768 was due to the Investment Manager 
as at the reporting date. 
 
(a) /ǳǎǘƻŘƛŀƴΩǎ ŦŜŜǎ 
 
Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement. The Custody 
fee is subject to a minimum fee of EUR 2,000 per annum if the NAV of the fund is up to EUR 10m; EUR 10,000 per annum 
if the NAV of the Fund is between EUR 10m and EUR 50m; and EUR 37,500 per annum if the NAV of the fund is greater 
than EUR 50m. The Custodian will also be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 26,784 (2017: EUR 28,176) of which EUR NIL (2017: EUR NIL) was due 
to the Custodian as at the reporting date. 
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Effective from 7 Aug 2015, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, 
while no minimum fee is applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian 
receives a fee of 0.055% of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of 
EUR 10,000 per annum is applicable.  
 
Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement. The Custody 
fee is subject to a minimum fee of EUR 2,000 per annum if the NAV of the fund is up to EUR 10m, EUR 10,000 per annum 
if the NAV of the Fund is between EUR 10m and EUR 50m and EUR 37,500 per annum if the NAV of the fund is greater 
than EUR 50m. The Custodian will also be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
Effective from 7 Aug 2015, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, 
while no minimum fee is applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian 
receives a fee of 0.055% of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of 
EUR 10,000 per annum is applicable.  
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 10,031 (2017: EUR 10,196) of which EUR NIL (2017: EUR NIL) was due 
to the Custodian as at the reporting date. 
 
Euro Equity Fund 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement. The Custody 
fee is subject to a minimum fee of EUR 6,000 per annum if the NAV of the fund is up to EUR 10m, EUR 10,000 per annum 
if the NAV of the Fund is between EUR 10m and EUR 50m and EUR 35,700 per annum if the NAV of the fund is greater 
than EUR 50m. The Custodian will also be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses.  
 
Effective from 7 Aug 2015, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, 
while no minimum fee is applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian 
receives a fee of 0.055% of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of 
EUR 10,000 per annum is applicable.  
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 7,342 (2017: EUR 8,206) of which EUR NIL (2017: EUR NIL) was due 
to the Custodian as at the reporting date. 
 
 
Global Balanced Income Fund 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, while no minimum fee is 
applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.055% 
of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of EUR 10,000 per annum is 
applicable.  
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 6,238 (2017: EUR 5,293) of which EUR NIL (2017: EUR NIL) was due 
to the Custodian as at the reporting date. 
 
Malta Government Bond Fund 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, while no minimum fee is 
applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.055% 
of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of EUR 10,000 per annum is 
applicable.  
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 7,382 (2017: EUR 888) of which EUR NIL (2017: EUR NIL) was due to 
the Custodian as at the reporting date. 
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Emerging Markets Bond Fund 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, while no minimum fee is 
applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.055% 
of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of EUR 10,000 per annum is 
applicable.  
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 8,173 (2017: EUR731) of which EUR NIL (2017: EUR NIL) was due to 
the Custodian as at the reporting date. 
 
Malta Balanced Income Fund (formerly Malta Income Fund) 
 
The Custodian receives a fee of 0.1% of the NAV of the Fund if the Fund is up to EUR 10m, while no minimum fee is 
applicable as per the Custodian Agreement. If the Fund is larger than EUR 10m, the Custodian receives a fee of 0.055% 
of the net asset value of the sub-fund as per the Custodian Agreement and a minimum fee of EUR 10,000 per annum is 
applicable.  
 
The custodian fees incurred for the year were EUR 3,502 of which EUR NIL was due to the Custodian as at the reporting 
date. 
 
 
Administration fees 
 

Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 

The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 12,500 
per annum and EUR 25 for each trade as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The 
Administrator is also entitled to recover out-of-pocket expenses. 

 

The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 76,234 (2017: EUR 79,826) of which EUR 19,047 (2017: EUR 

21,166) was due to the Administrator as at the reporting date. 

 

Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 

The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 12,500 

per annum and EUR25 for each trade as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The 

Administrator is also entitled to recover out-of-pocket expenses. 
 

The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 23,911 (2017: EUR 26,162) of which EUR 6,477 (2017: EUR 6,330) 

was due to the Administrator as at the reporting date. 
 
Euro Equity Fund 

 

The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 30,000 
per annum as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The Administrator is also entitled to 
recover out-of-pocket expenses. 

 

The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 30,000 (2017: EUR 30,000) of which EUR 7,727 (2017: EUR 7,644) 
was due to the Administrator as at the reporting date. 
 
Global Balanced Income Fund 
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The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 12,500 
per annum as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The Administrator is also entitled to 
recover out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 12,500 (2017: EUR 12,500) of which EUR 3,355 (2017: EUR 3,325) 
was due to the Administrator as at the reporting date. 
 
Malta Government Bond Fund 

 

The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 30,000 
per annum as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The Administrator is entitled to 
additional EUR 1,500 per annum for each additional Class of Investor Shares launched. The Administrator is also entitled 
to recover out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 30,000 (2017: EUR NIL) of which EUR 7,891 (2017: EUR NIL) was 
due to the Administrator as at the reporting date. 
 

 
Emerging Markets Bond Fund 
 
The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 30,000 
per annum as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The Administrator is entitled to 
additional EUR 1,500 per annum for each additional Class of Investor Shares launched. The Administrator is also entitled 
to recover out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 30,002 (2017: EUR 5,152) of which EUR 8,514 (2017: EUR 5,152) 
was due to the Administrator as at the reporting date. 
 
Malta Balanced Income Fund (formerly Malta Income Fund) 
 
The Administrator receives a fee of 0.15% of the net asset value of the sub-fund subject to a minimum fee of EUR 30,000 
per annum as per the Administration, Registrar and Transfer Agency agreement. The Administrator is entitled to 
additional EUR 1,500 per annum for each additional Class of Investor Shares launched. The Administrator is also entitled 
to recover out-of-pocket expenses. 
 
The administration fees incurred for the year were EUR 17,753 of which EUR 7,726 was due to the Administrator as at 
the reporting date. 
 

(c) Performance fees 

No performance fees are applicable. 

 

7. Taxation 
 

The Company 
 

Lƴ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ aŀƭǘŜǎŜ ŦƛǎŎŀƭ ƭŜƎƛǎƭŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǎŎƘŜƳŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ ŜƛǘƘŜǊ ΨǇǊŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘΩ ƻǊ Ψƴƻƴ-
ǇǊŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘΩ ŦǳƴŘǎΦ 

A collective investment scheme which declares that the value of its assets situated in Malta allocated thereto for the 

purpose of its operations does not exceed eighty-five per cent of the value of its total assets is treated as a non-

prescribed fund.  
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On this basis, the Euro High Income Bond Fund, the Global High Income Bond Fund, the Euro Equity Fund, the Global 

Balanced Income Fund and the Emerging Markets Bond Fund qualify as non-prescribed funds for Maltese income tax 

purposes. 

Accordingly, the sub-funds within the Company are exempt from Maltese income tax except in respect of any income 
from immovable property situated in Malta. 
 
Malta Balanced Income Fund and the Malta Government Bond Fund falls under the category of a prescribed fund, 
meaning it is liable to Maltese income tax. 
 
Capital gains, dividends, interest and any other income from foreign investments held by the sub-funds within the 
Company may nonetheless be subject to tax imposed by the country of origin concerned and any such taxes are not 
recoverable by the sub-funds within Company or by the members. 
 

 
Members not resident in Malta 
 

Capital gains accruing to members not resident in Malta upon a redemption or transfer of shares or upon a distribution 
on a winding-up of the Company are not subject to tax in Malta. 
 

However, the redemption or transfer of shares and any distribution on a winding-up of the Company may result in a tax 
liability for the members according to the tax regime applicable in their respective countries of incorporation, 
establishment, residence, citizenship, nationality or domicile, or other relevant jurisdiction. 
 
Withholding tax expense 
 

Certain interest income received by the Company is subject to withholding tax imposed in the country of origin.  
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8. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 CC Funds 

SICAV plc 
Euro High 
Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Global 
High 

Income 
Bond 
Fund 

Euro 
Equity 
Fund 

 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

Malta 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cash at bank         
31 December 
2018 

11,715,618 5,845,643 1,569,683 (27,502) 797,697 811,895 1,021,348 1,696,854 

        

 
 
 

 CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

 Euro High 
Income 

Bond 
 Fund  

Global 
High 

Income 
Bond  
Fund  

Euro  
Equity  

Fund 
 

Global  
Balanced 

Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 

Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Markets 

Bond Fund 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Cash at bank        
31 December 
2017 

10,071,126 5,370,865 1,929,658 167,947 553,582 252,705 1,793,795 

        
        

 
 
The cash and cash equivalents of the Company include EUR 1,000 representing the proceeds of issue of founder shares. 
 
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates.  
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9. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

  
9.1    Summary of the composition of the portfolio of investments 
 

 

CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund 

Global 
High 

Income 
Bond Fund 

Euro Equity 
Fund 

Global 
Balanced 
Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 
Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Market Bond 

Fund 

Malta 
Balanced 

Income Fund 

Financial assets 
designated as at fair 
value through profit 
or loss  
 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

31 December 2018 
 

       
 

 
Exchange traded    
funds 5,766,795 1,607,689 264,086 1,874,363 1,777,816 61,024 181,817 - 
Equities 8,789,297 - - 4,393,433 1,807,996 - - 2,587,868 
Debt instruments 74,841,013 37,514,826 13,208,145 - 1,674,012 11,592,496 7,635,287 3,216,247 
 
Financial assets 
designated as held for 
trading         
OTC Derivatives 11,561 - - - - - 11,561 - 

 89,408,666 39,122,515 13,472,231 6,267,796 5,259,824 11,653,520 7,828,665 5,804,115 

 
Financial Liabilities 
designated as held for 
trading         

OTC Derivatives 167,047 98,329 - - 22,578 - 46,139 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CC Funds 
SICAV plc 

Euro High 
Income 

Bond Fund  

Global High 
Income 

Bond Fund 

Euro 
Equity 

Fund 

Global 
Balanced 

Income 
Fund 

Malta 
Government 

Bond Fund 

Emerging 
Market Bond 

Fund 

Financial assets 
designated as at fair 
value through profit or 
loss  
 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

31 December 2017 
 

       

 
Exchange traded    
funds 6,157,776 1,677,669 270,424 2,417,903 1,690,627 19,138 82,016 
Equities 6,813,587 - - 5,097,450 1,716,040 - - 
Collective   
    investment  
    schemes 945,565 728,139 217,426 - - - - 
Debt instruments 63,904,768 44,437,835 13,511,195 - 1,928,752 1,593,437 2,433,530 
 
Financial assets 
designated as held for 
trading        
OTC Derivatives 189,187 86,187 - 11,881 32,034 - 59,085 

 78,199,662 47,118,609 13,999,045 7,527,234 5,367,453 1,612,575 2,574,648 
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In the prior year the company held shares in collective investment schemes some of which had a financial year which 
was not co -terminous with that of the Company or independently audited financial statements were not readily 
ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ŀǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴts. As a result, the valuation of these collective 
investment schemes, in prior year amounting to EUR945,565 could not be corroborated against independently audited 
net asset values as at  31 December 2017 and were been based on alternative available independent market 
information. The company did not hold investments in collective investment schemes in current year.    
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Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund EUR) 
 
The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017 respectively: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 
assets 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 
assets 

 EUR   
 

EUR   

Transferable securities 
traded on a regulated 
market 

   

 

   

Collective investment 
schemes - - -  728,139 1.37 1.37 

Exchange traded funds 1,607,689 3.52 3.54  1,677,669 3.16 3.16 

        

Debt instruments traded on a 
regulated market        

Sovereign bonds 2,146,526 4.70 4.73  953,440 1.80 1.80 

Corporate bonds 35,190,577 77.07 77.51  43,484,395 81.92 81.92 

 38,944,792 85.29 85.78  44,437,835 83.72 83.72 

        

Debt instruments not traded 
on a regulated market        

Corporate bonds 177,723 0.39 0.39  188,780 0.36 0.36 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 39,122,515 85.68 86.17  46,843,642 88.25 88.25 

 
Financial assets designated 
as held for trading        

OTC Derivatives - - -  86,187 0.16 0.16 

 
Financial liabilities 
designated as held for 
trading        

OTC Derivatives 98,329 0.22 0.22  - - - 

 

 
Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of  

total assets 
% of net 

assets 

 
Total % of  

total  
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR 
   

EUR 
  

Eurozone 22,757,359 49.84 50.13  29,728,460 56.01 56.01 

EU non-Eurozone 3,745,075 8.20 8.25  4,533,804 8.54 8.54 

United States 2,060,768 4.51 4.54  2,137,524 4.03 4.03 

Other 10,460,984 22.91 23.04  10,718,821 20.19 20.19 
 

39,024,186 85.46 85.96  47,118,609 88.77 88.77 

 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017 were pledged. 
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Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 
The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 EUR   
 

EUR   

Transferable securities 
traded on a regulated market 

   
 

   

    Collective investment      
schemes - - -  217,426 1.35 1.35 

    Exchange traded funds 264,086 1.73 1.74  270,424 1.68 1.68 

        

Debt instruments traded on a 
regulated market        

    Sovereign bonds 563,994 3.70 3.71  - - - 

    Corporate bonds 12,644,151 82.85 83.17  13,511,195 83.99 83.99 

 13,208,145 86.55 86.88  13,511,195 83.99 83.99 

        

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 13,472,231 88.28 88.62  13,999,045 87.03 87.03 

 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss - - -  - - - 

 

 
 
Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 EUR 
   

EUR 
  

Eurozone 1,687,825 11.06 11.10  1,381,046 8.59 8.59 

EU non-Eurozone 1,988,931 13.03 13.08  1,645,667 10.23 10.23 

United States 2,540,941 16.65 16.71  3,269,632 20.33 20.33 

Other 7,254,534 47.53 47.72  7,702,700 47.89 47.89 
 

13,472,231 88.27 88.61  13,999,045 87.03 87.03 

 
 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017 were pledged. 
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Euro Equity Fund 
 

The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 EUR   
 

EUR   

Transferable securities traded 
on a regulated market 

   

 

   

    Exchange traded funds 1,874,363 29.84 30.03  2,417,903 31.60 31.60 

    Equities 4,393,433 69.95 70.38  5,097,450 66.63 66.63 

        
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 6,267,796 99.79 100.41  7,515,353 98.22 98.22 

 
Financial assets designated as 
held for trading        

OTC Derivatives - - -  11,881 0.16 0.16 

 
 
 
 
 Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 
Total % of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 EUR 
   

EUR 
  

Eurozone 5,581,031 88.86 89.40  6,067,945 79.30 79.30 

EU non-Eurozone - - -  515,775 6.74 6.74 

United States 438,081 6.98 7.02  613,010 8.01 8.01 

Other 248,684 3.96 3.98  330,504 4.32 4.32 
 

6,267,796 99.8 100.40  7,527,234 98.37 98.37 

 
 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2018 and 
31 December 2017 were pledged. 
 

Global Balanced Income Fund 
 

 
The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at as at 31 December 2018 and        31 December 
2017: 
 

 31 December 2018  31 December 2017 

 
Total % of 

total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 Total % of total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR    EUR   

Transferable securities traded 
on a regulated market 

   
    

    Exchange traded funds 1,777,816 31.12 29.45  1,690,627 28.51 28.51 

    Equities 1,807,996 29.68 29.96  1,716,040 28.94 28.94 

        
Debt instruments traded on a 
regulated market    
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    Corporate bonds 1,674,012 27.48 27.73  1,928,752 32.53 32.53 

        
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 5,259,824 88.28 87.14 

 
5,335,518 89.99 89.99 

 
Financial assets designated as 
held for trading    

 
   

    OTC Derivatives - - - 
 

32,034 0.54 0.54 

 
Financial liabilities designated 
as held for trading    

 
   

    OTC Derivatives 22,578 0.37 0.37 
 

- - - 

 
 
Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

    31 December 2018 
 

    31 December 2017 

    Total 
% of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 
Total 

% of total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR 

  
 EUR 

  

Eurozone 3,206,375 52.64 53.12  3,358,279 56.64 56.64 

EU non-Eurozone 527,040 8.65 8.73  229,301 3.87 3.87 

United States 759,058 12.46 12.57  582,327 9.82 9.82 

Other 744,773 12.23 12.34  1,197,644 20.20 20.20 

 5,237,246 85.98 86.76  5,367,551 90.53 90.53 

 
 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2018 were pledged. 
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Malta Government Bond Fund 
 
The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2017: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017   

 Total Total % of total 
assets 

% of net assets % of total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR   EUR   

Transferable securities 
traded on a regulated 
market 

      

    Collective investment 
schemes - - - - - - 

    Exchange traded funds 61,024 0.49 0.49 19,138 1.02 1.02 

       

Debt instruments traded 
on a regulated market       

    Sovereign bonds 11,592,496 92.27 92.51 1,593,437 84.52 84.72 

    Corporate bonds - - - - - - 

 11,592,496 92.27 92.51 1,593,437 84.52 84.72 

       
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 11,653,520 92.76 93.00 1,612,575 85.54 85.74 

 
 
 
Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

     31 December 2018     31 December 2017 

      Total 
% of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 
Total 

% of total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR   EUR 
  

Eurozone 11,609,220 92.41 92.65 1,581,966 83.91 84.11 

EU non-Eurozone 30,922 0.25 0.25 30,609 1.62 1.63 

Other 13,378 0.11 0.10 - - - 

 11,653,520 92.77 93.00 1,612,575 85.53 85.74 

 
 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2017 were pledged. 
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Malta Income Fund 
 
The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at 31 December 2018: 
 

 31 December 2018 

 Total % of total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR   

Transferable securities traded on a regulated market 
   

    Collective investment schemes - - - 

    Exchange traded funds - - - 

Equities 2,587,868 34.26 34.39 

    

Debt instruments traded on a regulated market    

    Sovereign bonds - - - 

    Corporate bonds 3,216,247 42.58 42.74 

 3,216,247 42.58 42.74 

    

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,804,115 76.84 77.13 

 
 
Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

     31 December 2018 

    Total % of total assets % of net assets 

 EUR 
  

Eurozone 5,804,115 76.84 77.13 

 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2017 were pledged. 
 
 
  



 

 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 

For the year ended 31st December 2018 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

48 

Emerging Markets Bond Fund 
 
The table below sets the composition of the portfolio of the Fund as at 31 December 2017 and  
31 December 2018: 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

   
Total % of 

total 
assets 

% of net 
assets 

Total % of 
total 

assets 

% of net 
assets 

 EUR   EUR   

Transferable securities traded 
on a regulated market 

      

    Collective investment 
schemes - - - - - - 

    Exchange traded funds 181,817 2.02 2.04 82,016 1.87 1.87 

       
Debt instruments traded on a 
regulated market    

   

    Sovereign bonds 699,550 7.79 7.87 344,017 7.83 7.84 

    Corporate bonds 6,935,737 77.20 77.99 2,089,530 47.59 47.59 

 7,635,287 84.99 85.86 2,433,547 55.42 55.43 

       

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 7,817,104 87.01 87.90 2,515,563 57.29 57.30 

 
Financial assets designated as 
held for trading    

   

    OTC Derivatives 11,561 0.13 0.13 59,085 1.35 1.35 

 
 

Financial liabilities designated 
as held for trading    

   

    OTC Derivatives 46,139 0.51 0.52 - - - 

 
 
Issuers of the above financial assets are categorised as follows: 
 

     31 December 2018     31 December 2017 

    Total 
% of 
total 

assets 

% of net 
assets 

Total 
% of total 

assets 
% of net 

assets 

 EUR   EUR 
  

Eurozone 770,536 8.58 8.66 349,653 7.96 7.96 

EU non-Eurozone 682,614 7.60 7.68 514,530 11.72 11.72 

Other 6,329,376 70.45 71.17 1,710,465 38.96 38.96 
 7,782,526 86.63 87.51 2,574,648 58.64 58.64 

 
None of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2018 and  
31 December 2017 were pledged. 
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10. Transactions with related parties 
 

(a) Directors  
 

5ǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ȅŜŀǊΣ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƳƻǳƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ 9¦wмсΣмоу  
(31 December 2017: EUR17,997) as disclosed separately on statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Directors are entitled to a maximum of EUR40,000 per annum paid quarterly in arrears. There were no other payments 
to key management personnel as defined in IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures.  
 

(b) Management fees 
 

Total management fees for the reporting year ending 31 December 2018 amounted to EUR981,512 (31 December 2017: 
EUR872,958), as disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.  
 
(c) Administration fees 
 

Total administration fees for the reporting year ending 31 December 2018, amounted to EUR220,400 (31 December 
2017: EUR153,640), as disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
(d) Performance fees 
 

Total performance fees for the reporting year ending 31 December 2018, amounted to EUR NIL (31 December 2018: 
EUR NIL), as disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
(e) Founder shares 
  

1,000 Founder Shares have been issued fully paid by Calamatta Cuschieri Investment Services Limited on behalf of the 
Company. 
 
!ƭƭ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘŜŘ ŀǘ ŀǊƳΩǎ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ŀƴŘ ŀǊŜ ǎǳƳƳŀǊƛǎŜŘ ƛƴ 
Note 6 to these financial statements. Related party balances are neither secured nor has any guarantees been given or 
received relating to these balances. 
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11. Financial instruments and associated risks 
 

The Company is established as an investment company with variable share capital (SICAV) which implies that financial 
instruments are extensively used in the course of its routine business. The sub-funds may invest in securities, deposits 
with credit institutions, investments in units of other Collective Investment Schemes, financial derivative instruments 
or OTC financial derivative instruments for the purposes of efficient portfolio management only and ancillary liquid 
assets. 
 

Tactical allocation of sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƛǎ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ aŀƴŀƎŜǊΣ ǎŜǘǘƛƴƎ the risk management limits in 
line with the investment strategy of each sub-fund at the prevailing market circumstances. 
 

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the reporting date and the risk management policies 
employed by the sub-funds are discussed below. 
 

11.1. Market risk  

 

Market risk encapsulates the potential for gains and losses in the valuation of the underlying securities, including gains 
and losses arising from currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. 
 

The strategy of each sub-fund relating to the management of investment risk is derived from the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ 
objective, which is clearly outlined in the prospectus of the SICAV. The Investment Manager monitors the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ 
market exposures within the pre-determined Investment Restrictions on a daily basis whilst the overall market 
exposures are also monitored on a quarterly basis by the Board of Directors. 
 
Details of the nature of the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ŀǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ŘŀǘŜ ŀǊŜ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎŜŘ ƛn Note 9. 
 
11.1.1  Currency risk   

 
The sub-funds may hold foreign cash balances, as well as invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions 
denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currency. Consequently, the sub-funds are exposed to 
risks that the exchange rate of the functional currencies relative to other foreign currencies may change in a manner 
that have adverse effect on the value of that portion of the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎƛŜǎ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ 
functional currency. 
 
The sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ Ǌƛǎƪ ƛǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ Řŀƛƭȅ ōŀǎƛǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ aŀƴŀƎŜǊ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǇƻƭƛŎƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ 
procedures in place.  
 

 
As at the reporting date the sub-funds had the following open currency exposures: 

 
Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 % of total assets % of total assets 

Currency   
US Dollars 13.50 10.51 
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Euro Equity Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 % of total assets % of total assets 

Currency   
US Dollars 8.27 8.77 

Great Britain Pound  - 6.74 
 
 
 Global Balanced Income Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 % of total assets % of total assets 

Currency 
Great Britain Pound 24.62 28.34 

US Dollars 0.05 3.98 
 
   

 
Emerging Market Bond Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 % of total assets % of total assets 

Currency   

Euros 6.98 9.97 
 
 
 
Malta Government Bond Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 % of total assets % of total assets 

Currency   

US Dollars 0.37 - 
 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, had the functional currency of the Fund strengthened or weakened by 5% in relation 
to the other currencies with all other variables held constant, net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares 
would have decreased by the amounts shown below. The Table below illustrates the estimated impact of a 
strengthening in the base currency of the Fund. Similar, but negative impact would be expected in the event of a 
weakening in the base currency. Importantly, the estimates below do not account for the hedging positions which would 
offset most of the impact of a change in EUR/USD rate.   
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Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 EUR EUR 

Currency   
US Dollars 306,408 279,062 

Great Britain Pound - - 
 
Euro Equity Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 EUR EUR 

Currency   
US Dollars 25,814 33,549 

Great Britain Pound - - 
 
Global Balanced Income Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 EUR EUR 

Currency   
US Dollars 74,302 83,957 

Great Britain Pound 137 11,791 
 

Emerging Market Bond Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 EUR EUR 

Currency   

Euros 31,031 21,890 

Great Britain Pound  - - 
 

Malta Government Bond Fund 
 

 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

 EUR USD 

Currency   

US Dollars 2,347 - 
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11.1.2  Interest rate risk   
 

A substantial amount of the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ-bearing securities and are hence exposed to fair 
value interest rate risk arising from fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. 
 

Sensitivity analysis 
 

The interest rate risk is managed on a daily basis by the Investment Manager in line with the pre-determined policies 
and procedures in place. The overall interest rate risk is monitored on a quarterly basis by the Board of Directors and is 
managed on a daily basis by the Investment Manager.  
 

The table below sets out the impact on the relative net assets of each sub-fund as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 in the 
event that worldwide yield curves experience a parallel 25bps/50bps shift upwards or downwards. 
 
Yield curve shift 

  31 December 2018 31 December 2017 

  +/- 25bps +/- 50bps +/- 25bps +/- 50bps 

  EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Euro High Income Bond Fund +/- 317,300 634,600 363,600 727,200 

Global High Income Bond Fund  +/- 131,100 262,200 122,700 245,400 

Global Balanced Income Fund +/- 18,900 37,900 16,300 32,600 

Malta Government Bond Fund +/- 262,300 524,600 33,300 66,600 

Malta Balanced Income Fund +/- 55,300 110,600 - - 

Emerging Markets Bond Fund +/- 99,000 198,000 30,000 60,000 
 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Euro Equity Fund had no exposure to debt securities. 
 

11.1.3  Price risk   
 

Price risk is the risk that the value of the underlying assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). These can arise from factors specific to an individual 
investment or its issuer, better known as idiosyncratic risk, or from factors affecting total market sentiment, better 
known as systemic risk. 
 
Idiosyncratic price risk is managed through the construction of a well-diversified portfolio of investments traded on 
various markets. Systemic risk cannot be eliminated completely by diversification and hence investors in the respective 
sub-funds forming part of this SICAV are subject to the sub-funds relative systemic market risk. 
 
As the majority of the sub-funds financial instruments are carried at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, all changes in market conditions will directly affect the 
sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎΦ 
 
 
 
 
 

11.2. Credit and settlement risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to honour an obligation or commitment that it 
has entered into with the respective sub-fund. 
 
Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to failure of counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities and/or 
other assets as contractually agreed. Risk relating to unsettled transactions is considered to be minimal due to the short 
settlement period involved and the high credit quality of the brokers used. Furthermore, the Investment Manager 
monitors the financial positions of the brokers used to further mitigate this risk. 
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All of the assets of the sub-funds are held by Sparkasse Bank Malta p.l.c. as Custodian. Sparkasse Schwaz AG is the 
parent company of Sparkasse Bank Malta plc and is a member of the Austrian Savings Bank Group, comprising all 
Austrian Sparkasse and Erste Group Banks. Erste Group Bank is rated BBB+ based on rating agency Standard & Poor's. 
 
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Custodian may cause the sub-funds rights with respect to securities held by the 
Custodian to be delayed or limited. 
 
Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 
The sub-fund aims to maximise the total level of return for investors through investment, primarily, in a diversified 
portfolio of debt securities and other fixed income or interest bearing securities. 
 
!ǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмуΣ ǘƘŜ 9ǳǊƻ IƛƎƘ LƴŎƻƳŜ .ƻƴŘ CǳƴŘΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊe to debt securities stood at     82.63% (2017: 
83.72%) of its total net assets. The credit quality of these investments as at  
31 December 2018 is summarised below: 
 
 
    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 
Credit rating  % Exposure of total net 

assets 
% Exposure of total net 

assets 
   
AA-A 5% 2% 
BBB 11% 14% 
BB 27% 25% 
B 32% 38% 
CCC+ 1% - 
NR/Below CCC+ 8% 5% 
   
          The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
 
          Credit Institution Credit Rating    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 
  EUR EUR 

Sparkasse Bank                     
Malta plc 

                  NR 1,063,541 1,542,843 

Calamatta Cuschieri                               
Investment Services Limited 

                  NR 1,500,000 - 

            BNF Bank                   NR 1,831,088 1,827,252 
            MeDirect                   NR - 1,000,000 
            FIMBank p.l.c                   BB- - 426 
            Bank of Valetta                   BBB+ 1,451,014 1,000,436 
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Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 

The sub-fund aims to maximise the total level of return for investors through investment, primarily, in a diversified 
portfolio of debt securities and other fixed income or interest bearing securities. As at 31 December 2018, the Global 
IƛƎƘ LƴŎƻƳŜ .ƻƴŘ CǳƴŘΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŘŜōǘ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǎǘƻƻŘ ŀǘ усΦуу҈ όнлмтΥ упΦлл҈ύ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ǘƻǘŀƭ ƴŜǘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΦ The credit 
quality of these investments as at  
31 December 2018 is summarised below: 
 
    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 

Credit rating  % Exposure of total net 
assets 

% Exposure of total net 
assets 

   

AAA-A 6% 1% 

BBB 18% 17% 

BB 44% 31% 

B 19% 35% 

          
 The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
    
          Credit Institution Credit Rating    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 

  EUR EUR 

            Sparkasse Bank                          
Malta plc 

                  NR 1,569,683 1,510,617 

            MeDirect Bank 
(Malta) plc 

                  NR - 12 

            FIMBank plc                    BB- - 805,926 

 
Global Balanced Income Fund 
 
The objective of the sub-fund is to provide stable, long-term capital appreciation by investing in a diversified portfolio 
of local and international bonds, equities and other income generating assets. As at 31 December 2018, the Global 
Balanced Income FunŘΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŘŜōǘ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǎǘƻƻŘ ŀǘ нтΦто҈ (2017: 32.55%). The credit quality of these 
investments as at 31 December 2018 is summarised below: 
 
    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 
Credit rating  % Exposure of total net 

assets 
% Exposure of total net 

assets 
   
BBB 0% 0% 
BB 12% 10% 
B 13% 19% 
NR 3% 3% 
          The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
 

   
          Credit Institution Credit Rating    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 
  EUR EUR 
    
   Sparkasse Bank                          
Malta plc 

                  NR 797,697 553,571 
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Euro Equity Fund 
 
The objective of the sub-fund is to endeavour to maximise the total level of return for investors through investment, 
primarily, in a diversified portfolio of equity securities.  
 

As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, the Euro Equity Fund had no exposure to debt securities. 
 

The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
    
   Credit Institution Credit Rating    31 December 2018    31 December 2017 

  EUR EUR 

         Sparkasse Bank                          
Malta plc 

              NR (27,502) 168,200 

 
Malta Government Bond Fund 
 
The Fund aims to maximise the total level of return for investors through investment, primarily, in debt securities and 
money market instruments issued by the Government of Malta. The Investment Manager may also invest directly or 
indirectly via eligible ETFs and/or eligible CISs) up to 15% of its asǎŜǘǎ ƛƴ άbƻƴ-aŀƭǘŜǎŜ !ǎǎŜǘǎέ ƛƴ ŘŜōǘ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘκƻǊ 
money market instruments issued or guaranteed by Governments of EU, EEA and OECD Member States other than 
Malta. The Investment Manager will not be targeting debt securities of any particular duration, coupon or credit rating. 
 
!ǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмуΣ ǘƘŜ aŀƭǘŀ DƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘ .ƻƴŘ CǳƴŘΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŘŜōǘ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǎǘƻƻŘ ŀǘ фнΦрм҈ όупΦтн҈ ŀǎ 
at 31 December 2017). The credit quality of these investments as at  
31 December 2018: 
 

   31 December 2018   31 December 2017 
Credit rating  % Exposure of total 

net assets 
% Exposure of total 

net assets 
   
AAA-A 40% 47% 
BBB 1% 6% 
BB - 2% 
B - - 
CCC+ - - 
NR/Below CCC+ 52% 31% 
   
The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
  
Credit Institution Credit Rating 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 
  EUR EUR 
Sparkasse Bank                            
Malta plc 

              NR 411,895 252,705 

Calamatta Cuschieri Investment 
Services Limited  

              NR 400,000 - 
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Emerging Markets Bond Fund 
 
The Sub-Fund aims to maximise the total level of return through investment, in a diversified portfolio of Emerging 
Market ("EM") Corporate and Government fixed income securities as well as up to 15% of the Net Assets of the Sub-
Fund in EM equities. In pursuing this objective, the Investment Manager shall invest primarily in a diversified portfolio 
of EM bonds rated at the time of investment "BBB+" to "CCC+" by S&P, or in bonds determined to be of comparable 
quality. The Fund can also invest up to 10% of its assets in Non-Rated bond issues and up to 30% of its assets in Non-EM 
issuers. 
 
!ǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмуΣ ǘƘŜ 9ƳŜǊƎƛƴƎ aŀǊƪŜǘǎ .ƻƴŘ CǳƴŘΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŘŜōǘ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǎǘƻƻŘ ŀǘ урΦур҈ όррΦпо҈ ŀǎ ŀǘ 
31 December 2017). The credit quality of these investments as at  
31 December 2018: 
 

    31 December 2018  31 December 2017 
Credit rating  % Exposure of total 

net assets 
 % Exposure of total 

net assets 
    
AAA-A 6%  0% 
BBB 12%  12% 
BB 45%  11% 
B 20%  33% 
CCC+ 2%  - 
NR/Below CCC+ -  - 
   

 The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
    
Credit Institution Credit Rating 31 December 2018    31 December 2017 
  EUR EUR 
    
         Sparkasse Bank                          
Malta plc 

NR 871,895 2,153,451 

Calamatta Cuschieri 
Investment Services Limited  

NR 150,000 - 

    
 
Malta Income Fund 
 

The Fund aims to maximise the total level of return through investment, in debt securities and money market 
instruments issued by the Government of Malta, and equities and corporate bonds issued and listed on the MSE. The 
LƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ aŀƴŀƎŜǊ Ƴŀȅ ŀƭǎƻ ƛƴǾŜǎǘ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ƻǊ ƛƴŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ǳǇ ǘƻ мр҈ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƛƴ άbƻƴ-aŀƭǘŜǎŜ !ǎǎŜǘǎέΦ  ¢ƘŜ 
Investment Manager will, maintain an exposure to local equities issued on the MSE of at least 25% of NAV and will also 
maintain a direct exposure to local Maltese debt securities (Government and Corporate bonds) of at least 25% of the 
NAV of the Sub-Fund. 
 
!ǎ ŀǘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмуΣ ǘƘŜ aŀƭǘŀ DƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘ .ƻƴŘ CǳƴŘΩǎ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ ŘŜōǘ ǎŜŎǳǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǎǘƻƻd at 42.74%. The credit 
quality of these investments as at 31 December 2018: 
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Malta Income Fund (continued) 
 
 

    31 December 2018 
Credit rating  % Exposure of total net assets 
  
AA-A - 
BBB - 
BB - 
B - 
CCC+ - 
NR/Below CCC+ 43% 
  
The credit ratings of entities which are holding cash at bank are: 
   
Credit Institution Credit Rating 31 December 2018 
  EUR 
   
Sparkasse Bank                          
Malta plc 

NR 1,446,854 

Calamatta Cuschieri Investment 
Services Limited  

NR 250,000 

 
 

11.3. Liquidity risk 

 
The sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ Ŏƻƴǎǘƛǘǳǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǿŜŜƪƭȅ ŎǊŜŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŎŀƴŎŜƭƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǳƴƛǘǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜǎŜ ŀǊŜ ǘƘŜǊŜŦƻǊŜ ŜȄǇƻǎŜŘ 
to the liquidity risk of meeting unit-ƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ǊŜŘŜƳǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǘ ŀƴȅ ǘƛƳŜΦ ¢ƘŜ ƳŀƧƻǊ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ǎǳō-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ǳƴŘŜǊƭȅƛƴƎ 
securities is considered to be readily realisable since they are all listed on major European and US Stock Exchanges. 
 
The sub-ŦǳƴŘΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǎŎƘŜƳŜǎ Ƴŀȅ ƴƻǘ ōŜ ǊŜŀŘƛƭȅ ǊŜŀƭƛǎŀōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ƳŀǊƪŜǘŀōƛƭƛǘȅ Ƴŀȅ 
be restricted, in particular because the underlying funds may have restrictions that allow redemptions only at specific 
infrequent dates with considerable notice periods, and apply lock-ups and redemption fees. The respective sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ 
ability to withdraw monies from or invest monies in underlying funds with such restrictions will be limited and such 
ǊŜǎǘǊƛŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƛƭƭ ƭƛƳƛǘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƭŜȄƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ǊŜŀƭƭƻŎŀǘŜ ǎǳŎƘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ŀƳƻƴƎ ǳƴŘŜǊƭȅƛƴƎ ŦǳƴŘǎΦ  {ƻƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊƭȅƛƴƎ 
funds may be or may become illiquid, and the realisation of investments from them may take a considerable time and/or 
be costly.  As a result, the Company may not be able to quickly liquidate its investment in these instruments at an 
amount close to fair value in order to meet its liquidity requirements. 
 
The sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ Ǌƛǎƪ ƛǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŘ ƻƴ ŀƴ ƻƴ-going basis by the Investment Manager in accordance with policies 
and procedures in place. The sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ ƭƛǉǳƛŘƛǘȅ Ǌƛǎƪǎ ŀǊŜ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǊŜǾƛŜǿŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ ǉǳŀǊǘŜǊƭȅ ōŀǎƛǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 
Board of Directors. 
The liabilities of the sub-funds are comprised of accrued expenses and advances received against pending subscriptions 
and these are due within 3 months of the date of statement of financial position. 
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11.4. Custody risk 

 
The Company is also exposed to operational risks such as custody risk. Custody risk is the risk of a loss being incurred on 
ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎ ƘŜƭŘ ƛƴ ŎǳǎǘƻŘȅ ŀǎ ŀ ǊŜǎǳƭǘ ƻŦ ŀ ŎǳǎǘƻŘƛŀƴΩǎ ƻǊ ǇǊƛƳŜ ōǊƻƪŜǊΩǎ ƛƴǎƻƭǾŜƴŎȅΣ ƴŜƎƭƛƎŜƴŎŜΣ ƳƛǎǳǎŜ ƻŦ 
assets, fraud, poor administration or inadequate record-keeping. Although an appropriate legal framework is in place 
that reduces the risk of loss of value of the financial instruments held by the custodian or prime broker in the event of 
its failure, the ability of the Company to transfer the securities might be temporarily impaired. 
 

11.5. Capital risk management 

 
The capital of the Company is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares. The amount 
of net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares can change significantly on a weekly basis, as the sub-funds 
ŀǊŜ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǿŜŜƪƭȅ ǎǳōǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜŘŜƳǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǎŎǊŜǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΦ ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻōƧŜŎǘƛǾŜ ǿƘŜƴ 
ƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ƛǎ ǘƻ ǎŀŦŜƎǳŀǊŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŀǎ ŀ ƎƻƛƴƎ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴ ƛƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǾƛŘe returns for 
shareholders, provide benefits for other stakeholders and maintain a strong capital base to support the development 
of the investment activities of the Company. 
 
Lƴ ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ Ƴŀƛƴǘŀƛƴ ƻǊ ŀŘƧǳǎǘ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǇƛǘŀƭ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ƛǎ ǘƻ monitor the level of weekly subscriptions 
and redemptions relative to the assets it expects to be able to liquidate within 7 days and adjust the amount of 
distributions the Company pays to redeemable shareholders. 
 
The Board of Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets attributable to 
redeemable shareholders. 
 

12. Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
At 31 December 2018 and 2017 the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss approximated their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities 
or the fact that they carried a rate of interest that is reflective of market rates at the year end. 
 

Fair value hierarchy 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair 
value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows: 
 

¶ Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

¶ Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for  
the asset or liability directly or indirectly 

¶ Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data  
 
In prior year the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƭƭŜŎǘƛǾŜ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǎŎƘŜƳŜǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǇǊƛŎŜŘ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǳƴŘŜǊƭȅƛƴƎ 
ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƴet asset value as calculated by the administrator of such collective investment scheme as at the reporting date. 
The determination of whether such investment will be classified in Level 2 or Level 3 is assessed at the class level and 
based upon the ability to redeem such investment within a reasonable period of time. If an investment in a private 
investment fund may be redeemed at least quarterly and the fair value of the investment is based on information 
provided by management of the underlying fund, it is classified as Level 2. In all other cases it will be classified as Level 
3. 
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Collective investment schemes 
 

Equity shares and exchange traded funds 
 

Investments in equity shares and exchange traded funds for which quoted market prices in active markets (non-Maltese 
regulated markets) are available are valued at the price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of the fair 
value in the circumstances to be used to measure fair value. These investments are categorised in Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 1,607,689 - - 1,607,689 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 37,337,103 177,723 - 37,514,826 
OTC Derivatives - (98,329) - (98,329) 

 38,944,792 79,394 - 39,024,186 

 
 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2017  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 1,677,669 - - 1,677,669 
Collective investment schemes - 728,139 - 728,139 
Debt instruments 44,249,055 188,780 - 44,437,835 
OTC Derivatives - 86,187 - 86,187 

 45,926,724 1,003,106 - 46,929,830 
 
 
Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 264,086 - - 264,086 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 13,208,145 - - 13,208,145 

 13,472,231 - - 13,472,231 
 

 
 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2017  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 270,424 - - 270,424 
Collective investment schemes - 217,426 - 217,426 
Debt instruments 13,511,195 - - 13,511,195 

 13,781,619 217,426 - 13,999,045 
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Euro Equity Fund 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 1,874,363 - - 1,874,363 
Equities 4,393,433 - - 4,393,433 
OTC Derivative Instruments - - - - 

      6,267,796 - - 6,267,796 

 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2017  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 2,417,903 - - 2,417,903 
Equities 5,097,450 - - 5,097,450 
OTC Derivative Instruments - 11,881 - 11,881 

      7,515,353 11,881 - 7,527,234 

 
 
Global Balanced Income Fund 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 1,777,816 - - 1,777,816 
Equities 1,807,996 - - 1,807,996 
Debt instruments 1,674,012 - - 1,674,012 
OTC Derivative Instruments - (22,578) - (22,578) 

 5,259,824 (22,578) - 5,237,246 

 
 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2017  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 1,690,627 - - 1,690,627 
Equities 1,716,138 - - 1,716,040 
Debt instruments 1,928,752 - - 1,928,752 
OTC Derivative Instruments - 32,034 - 32,034 

 5,335,517 32,034 - 5,367,453 
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12 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Malta Government Bond Fund 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 61,024 - - 61,024 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 11,592,496 - - 11,592,496 

 11,653,520 - - 11,653,520 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2017  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 19,138 - - 19,138 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 1,593,437 - - 1,593,437 

 1,612,575 - - 1,612,575 

 
Emerging Market Bond Fund 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 181,817 - - 181,817 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 7,635,287 - - 7,635,287 
OTC Derivative Instruments - (34,578) - (34,578) 

 7,817,104 (34,578) - 7,782,526 

 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2017  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Exchange traded funds 82,016 - - 82,016 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 2,433,547 - - 2,433,547 
OTC Derivative Instruments - 59,085 - 59,085 

 2,515,563 59,085 - 2,574,648 

 
Malta Balanced Income Fund 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
31 December 2018  EUR EUR EUR EUR 
     
Equities 2,587,868 - - 2,587,868 
Collective investment schemes - - - - 
Debt instruments 3,216,247 - - 3,216,247 

 5,804,115 - - 5,804,115 

 
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amounts of other financial assets and other payables approximated to 
their fair values due to the short-term nature of these balances. 
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Malta Balanced Income Fund (continued) 
 
The puttable value of redeemable shares is calculated based on the net difference between total assets and all other 
liabilities of the sub-funds in accordance with their offering supplements. A demand feature is attached to these shares, 
as they are redeemable at the holders' option and can be put back to the sub-funds at any dealing date for cash equal 
to a proportionate share of the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ ƴŜǘ ŀǎǎŜǘ ǾŀƭǳŜ ŀǘǘǊƛōǳǘŀōƭŜ ǘƻ the share class. The fair value is based on the 
amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid. The impact 
of discounting in this instance is not material. As such, Level 2 is deemed to be the most appropriate categorisation for 
net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares. 
 

13 Events after the reporting period 
 
In March 2019, the name of the SICAV changed from Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc to CC Funds SICAV plc. 
!ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƻǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ changed from Calamatta Cuschieri Fund Services Limited to CC Fund Services (Malta) Limited. 
Additionally, CC High Income Bond Fund EUR changed to Euro High Income Bond Fund, CC High Income Bond Fund USD 
name changed to Global High Income Bond Fund and Malta Income Fund name changed to Malta Balanced Income 
Fund. 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CC Funds SICAV plc (formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) όάǘƘŜ 
/ƻƳǇŀƴȅέύ, constituting each of the sub-funds of the Company, set out on pages 14 to 63, which comprise each of the statements of 
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the statements of profit or loss or other comprehensive income, statements of changes in 
net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and its sub-funds 
as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the !ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ section of our report. We are independent of 
ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ LƴǘŜǊƴŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ 9ǘƘƛŎǎ {ǘŀƴŘŀǊŘǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ŦƻǊ !ŎŎƻǳƴǘŀƴǘǎΩ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code) together with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive (Maltese Code) that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Malta, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code and the Maltese Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report. 
 
Information Other than the Financial Statementǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ ¢ƘŜǊŜƻƴ  
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the company information on page 1, the 
investment managers report on page 5 to 8Σ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƻƴ ǇŀƎŜǎ 9 to 11, the statement of directorsΩ responsibilities on page 12, 
comparative statement on page 13, portfolio statement on pages 68 to 78, efficient portfolio management techniques on pages 79 to 85, 
Appendix 1-General information on page 86 and ǘƘŜ /ǳǎǘƻŘƛŀƴΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ on pages 87 to 88,but does not include the separate and 
ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǳǊ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǘƘŜǊŜƻƴ. 
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to the members of  
Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc.  

 

5ŜƭƻƛǘǘŜ ǊŜŦŜǊǎ ǘƻ ƻƴŜ ƻǊ ƳƻǊŜ ƻŦ 5ŜƭƻƛǘǘŜ ¢ƻǳŎƘŜ ¢ƻƘƳŀǘǎǳ [ƛƳƛǘŜŘΣ ŀ ¦Y ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ƭƛƳƛǘŜŘ ōȅ ƎǳŀǊŀƴǘŜŜ όά5¢¢[έύΣ ƛǘǎ ƴetwork of member firms, and their related entities. DTTL and each of its member 
ŦƛǊƳǎ ŀǊŜ ƭŜƎŀƭƭȅ ǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŜƴǘƛǘƛŜǎΦ 5¢¢[ όŀƭǎƻ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎ ά5ŜƭƻƛǘǘŜ Dƭƻōŀƭέύ ŘƻŜǎ ƴƻǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ǘo clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more about our global network of 
member firms. 
 
Deloitte Malta refers to a civil partnership, constituted between limited liability companies, and its affiliated operating entities: Deloitte Services Limited, Deloitte Technology Solutions Limited, Deloitte Digital & 
Technology Limited, Alert Communications Limited, Deloitte Technology Limited, and Deloitte Audit Limited. The latter is authorised to provide audit services in Malta in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act. 
A list of the corporate partners, as well as the principals authorised to sign reports on behalf of the firm, is available at www.deloitte.com/mt/about. 
 
Cassar Torregiani & Associates is a firm of advocates warranted to practise law in Malta and is exclusively authorised to provide legal services in Malta under the Deloitte brand. 
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LƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ hǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ ¢ƘŜǊŜƻƴ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
Except for ƻǳǊ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴƛŜǎ !Ŏǘ ό/ŀǇΦ 386), our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
²ƛǘƘ ǊŜǎǇŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜǇƻǊǘΣ ǿŜ ŀƭǎƻ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƻŦ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ мтт 
of the Companies Act (Cap. 386)  
 
In accordance with the requirements of sub-article 179(3) of the Companies Act (Cap. 386) in relation to the DireŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ ƻƴ ǇŀƎŜǎ 9 to 
11, in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

¶ ¢ƘŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ƎƛǾŜƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ȅŜŀǊ ŦƻǊ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ƛǎ Ŏƻƴǎistent with 

the financial statements; and 
 

¶ ¢ƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ƭŜƎŀƭ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜƳŜƴǘǎΦ  
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified any ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ƳƛǎǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ wŜǇƻǊǘΦ 

 
Responsibility of the Directors for the Financial Statements 
!ǎ ŜȄǇƭŀƛƴŜŘ ƳƻǊŜ Ŧǳƭƭȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ƻƴ ǇŀƎŜ м2, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Companies 
Act (Cap.386), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Lƴ ǇǊŜǇŀǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǘƘŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŀǊŜ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ŀǎǎŜǎǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƻ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜ ŀǎ ŀ Ǝƻƛng concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Cƛƴŀƴcial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊ ŘǳŜ ǘƻ ŦǊŀǳŘ ƻǊ ŜǊǊƻǊΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƻ ƛǎǎǳŜ ŀƴ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǘƘŀǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ƻǳǊ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴΦ wŜŀǎƻƴŀōƭŜ ŀssurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
In terms of article 179A(4) of the Companies Act (Cap.386), the scope of our audit does not include assurance on the future viability of the 
audited entity or on the efficiency or effectiveness with which the directors have conducted or will conduct the affairs of the entity. 
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LƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
to the members of  
Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc. 
 
 
!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ wŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ !ǳŘƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ CƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ {ǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:  
 
ω  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 

audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 
ω  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

ŎƛǊŎǳƳǎǘŀƴŎŜǎΣ ōǳǘ ƴƻǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜ ƻŦ ŜȄǇǊŜǎǎƛƴƎ ŀƴ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŜŦŦŜŎǘƛǾŜƴŜǎǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ Ŏƻƴǘrol.  
 
ω  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the directors.  
 

¶ Conclude on the appropriateness of the ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the CompanȅΩǎ 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ ƻǊΣ ƛŦ ǎǳŎƘ ŘƛǎŎƭƻǎǳǊŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴŀŘŜǉǳŀǘŜΣ ǘƻ ƳƻŘƛŦȅ ƻǳǊ opinion. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit ŜǾƛŘŜƴŎŜ ƻōǘŀƛƴŜŘ ǳǇ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ ƻǳǊ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘΦ  
 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

¶ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify  during our audit.  

 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.  

 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǳƴƭŜǎǎ ƭŀǿ ƻǊ 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.  
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LƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ όŎƻƴǘƛƴǳŜŘύ 
to the members of  
Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act 
Under the Companies Act (Cap. 386), we have responsibilities to report to you if in our opinion: 
 

¶ Proper accounting records have not been kept; 

¶ Proper returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; 

¶ The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

¶ We have been unable to obtain all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary for 

the purpose of our audit.  
 
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 

 
Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Board of Directors 
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions of Article 11 of the EU 
Audit Regulation No. 537/2014. 

 
Auditor appointment 
²Ŝ ǿŜǊŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘŜŘ ǘƻ ŀŎǘ ŀǎ ǎǘŀǘǳǘƻǊȅ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΣ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ ƭƛǎǘƛƴƎΣ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ƳŜƳōŜrs of the 
Company on 27 April 2017 for the financial year ended 31 December 2017, and were subsequently reappointed as statutory auditors by 
the members of the Company on an annual basis. The period of total uninterrupted engagement as statutory auditor since the Company 
became a public interest entity including previous reappointments of the firm is 1 financial year. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Sarah Curmi as Director 
in the name and on behalf of 
Deloitte Audit Limited 
Registered auditor 
Mriehel, Malta. 
 

16 April 2019 

 
 

 

 

Deloitte Audit Limited is not responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate, financial and non-financial 
information included on this website. 
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Portfolio of net assets ŀǘ 31ǎǘ December 2018 
 
Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Debt Instruments

42 Invest plc 6.25% 2022 EUR 177,717                       0.39

4.875% UNITED GROUP BV 01/07/2024 EUR 492,985                       1.09

4% AEGON NV 25/04/2044 EUR 303,939                       0.67

6.25% THOMAS COOK GROUP PLC 15/06/2022 EUR 233,139                       0.51

7.25% ALDESA FINANCIAL SERVCS 01/04/2021 EUR 437,679                       0.96

4.75% ALTICE FINCO SA 15/01/2028 EUR 562,632                       1.24

4.75% ALLIANZ SE 24/10/2167 EUR 220,128                       0.48

3.25% GRUPO-ANTOLIN IRAUSA SA 30/04/2024 EUR 525,138                       1.16

6.625% ALAM SYNERGY PTE LTD 24/04/2022 USD 438,893                       0.97

7.25% ALTICE LUXEMBOURG SA 15/05/2022 EUR 280,437                       0.62

3.875% AVIVA PLC 03/07/2044 EUR 201,938                       0.44

3.875% AXA SA 08/10/2167 EUR 305,247                       0.67

6.5% BARCLAYS PLC 15/09/2167 EUR 195,400                       0.43

6.5% MINERVA LUXEMBOURG SA 20/09/2026 USD 244,223                       0.54

5.875% MINERVA LUXEMBOURG SA 19/01/2028 USD 381,015                       0.84

0.8% BELGIUM KINGDOM 22/06/2027 EUR 304,131                       0.67

10% GOVERNOR & CO OF THE BAN 19/12/2022 EUR 635,060                       1.40

6.125% BNP PARIBAS 17/12/2167 EUR 207,954                       0.46

6.5% BORETS FINANCE DAC 07/04/2022 USD 428,887                       0.94

3.75% BORTEX GROUP FINANCE PLC 01/12/2027 EUR 297,820                       0.66

4% CHEMOURS CO 15/05/2026 EUR 949,580                       2.09

6.5% CMA CGM SA 15/07/2022 EUR 746,568                       1.64

3.992% CASINO GUICHARD PERRACHO 31/01/2168 EUR 197,550                       0.44

5.75% CREDIT SUISSE 18/09/2025 EUR 535,710                       1.18

5.75% DANSKE BANK A/S 06/10/2167 EUR 295,875                       0.65

6% DEUTSCHE BANK AG 30/04/2167 EUR 163,670                       0.36

4% EDEN FINANCE 28/04/2027 EUR 314,700                       0.69

5.375% ELECTRICITE DE FRANCE SA 29/01/2168 EUR 410,212                       0.90

4.5% EIRCOM FINANCE DAC 31/05/2022 EUR 610,500                       1.34

3.625% ENBW 02/04/2076 EUR 309,924                       0.68

6.25% CHINA EVERGRANDE GROUP 28/06/2021 USD 499,799                       1.10

0.75% FRANCE (GOVT OF) 25/11/2028 EUR 301,236                       0.66

3.6% GAZPROM (GAZ CAPITAL SA) 26/02/2021 EUR 524,290                       1.15

4.875% GERDAU TRADE INC 24/10/2027 USD 415,505                       0.92

3.5% GESTAMP FUND LUX SA 15/05/2023 EUR 294,777                       0.65

7.5% GARFUNKELUX HOLDCO 3 SA 01/08/2022 EUR 712,360                       1.57

8.375% GAJAH TUNGGAL TBK PT 10/08/2022 USD 220,099                       0.48

6.5% GLOBAL PORTS FINANCE 22/09/2023 USD 444,266                       0.98

3.375% HANNOVER RE 26/06/2167 EUR 205,764                       0.45

5% HH FINANCE PLC 19/05/2028 EUR 255,000                       0.56

3.85% HILI FINANCE CO PLC 24/07/2028 EUR 256,250                       0.56

5.25% HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 16/03/2168 EUR 397,516                       0.88

4.75% INTERNATIONAL GAME TECH 15/02/2023 EUR 426,424                       0.94

4% INEOS FINANCE PLC 01/05/2023 EUR 1,004,730                   2.21

5.25% INTRALOT CAPITAL LUX 15/09/2024 EUR 575,721                       1.27

5% JD CAPITAL PLC 21/05/2028 EUR 252,500                       0.56

5.625% KBC GROEP NV 19/06/2167 EUR 499,375                       1.10

6.25% SYNLAB BONDCO PLC 01/07/2022 EUR 816,928                       1.80

6.5% LECTA SA 01/08/2023 EUR 835,560                       1.84

6% LOXAM SAS 15/04/2025 EUR 605,406                       1.33
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Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) (continued) 
 

 
 
 
  

Debt Instruments (continued)

4.875% LOXAM SAS 23/07/2021 EUR 470,957                       1.04

4.625% CEMEX FINANCE LLC 15/06/2024 EUR 504,900                       1.11

5% TENDAM BRANDS SAU 15/09/2024 EUR 643,566                       1.42

6.95% MODERNLAND OVERSEAS PTE 13/04/2024 USD 359,200                       0.79

4.8% MED MARITIME HUB FINANCE 14/10/2026 EUR 270,400                       0.60

7% MARB BONDCO PLC 15/03/2024 USD 661,613                       1.46

5% NIDDA BONDCO GMBH 30/09/2025 EUR 880,010                       1.94

5.25% ORANGE SA 07/02/2168 EUR 435,392                       0.96

4.125% ADLER PELZER HLDG GMBH 01/04/2024 EUR 1,016,686                   2.24

5.299% PETROBRAS GLOBAL FINANCE 27/01/2025 USD 417,638                       0.92

6.75% PROMONTORIA HOLDING 15/08/2023 EUR 582,858                       1.28

5.875% PETROBRAS GLOBAL FINANCE 07/03/2022 EUR 551,475                       1.21

2.625% CROWN EURO HOLDINGS SA 30/09/2024 EUR 593,640                       1.31

5.5% COOPERATIEVE RABOBANK UA 29/06/2167 EUR 513,215                       1.13

0.75% REPUBLIC OF AUSTRIA 20/02/2028 EUR 307,107                       0.68

0.5% FINNISH GOVERNMENT 15/09/2028 EUR 298,782                       0.66

2.125% PERNOD RICARD SA 27/09/2024 EUR 425,500                       0.94

5.481% BANCO SANTANDER SA 12/06/2167 EUR 476,380                       1.05

4% SAPPI PAPIER HOLDNG GMBH 01/04/2023 EUR 712,824                       1.57

4.35% SD FINANCE PLC 25/04/2027 EUR 241,500                       0.53

5.875% SELECTA GROUP BV 01/02/2024 EUR 567,606                       1.25

5.5% SCIENTIFIC GAMES INTERNA 15/02/2026 EUR 517,548                       1.14

5.425% SOLVAY FINANCE 12/11/2167 EUR 321,030                       0.71

4% STIVALA GR FINANCE PLC 18/10/2027 EUR 419,200                       0.92

5.375% TAKKO LUX 2 SCA 15/11/2023 EUR 504,343                       1.11

3.625% TELECOM ITALIA SPA 25/05/2026 EUR 299,871                       0.66

4.75% NEMAK SAB DE CV 23/01/2025 USD 490,072                       1.08

4.75% UBS AG 12/02/2026 EUR 530,465                       1.17

5.75% UBS GROUP FUNDING SWITZE 19/02/2168 EUR 212,312                       0.47

4.4% VON DER HEYDEN GR FNC 08/03/2024 EUR 204,960                       0.45

6.375% VEDANTA RESOURCES PLC 30/07/2022 USD 470,022                       1.04

6.125% VEDANTA RESOURCES PLC 09/08/2024 USD 217,982                       0.48

4.85% VOLVO TREASURY AB 10/03/2078 EUR 211,132                       0.47

8.5% WITTUR INTL HLDG GMBH 15/02/2023 EUR 297,213                       0.65

5.25% MALTA GOVERNMENT 23/06/2030 EUR 418,950                       0.92

4.5% MALTA GOVERNMENT 25/10/2028 EUR 516,320                       1.14

Total debt instruments 37,514,826                 82.63                           

Exchange traded funds

ISHARES EURO HY CORP EUR 399,940                       0.88

X ITRAXX CROSSOVER SWAP EUR 388,249                       0.86

LYXOR EURMS1-3Y INV GR DR EUR 375,720                       0.83

LYXOR EURMTS 7-10Y INVG DR EUR 174,480                       0.38

LYXOR BOFAML EUR HY EX FINC EUR 269,300                       0.59

Total exchange traded funds 1,607,689                   3.54                              

Forwards

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 04.01.2019 USD (98,329) (0.22)

Total forwards (98,329) (0.22)

Total portfolio of investments 39,024,186                 85.96

Bank balances 5,845,643                   12.88

Other assets net of l iabil ities 529,106                       1.17

Net Assets 45,398,935                 100.00                         



 

 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 

For the year ended 31st December 2018 

CC Funds SICAV plc 
(formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) 

70 

Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) 
 

 
 
  

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Debt Instruments

5.25% ELECTRICITE DE FRANCE SA 29/07/2167 USD 165,672                       1.09

4.375% FORD MOTOR CREDIT CO LLC 06/08/2023 USD 166,043                       1.09

6.625% ALTICE FINANCING SA 15/02/2023 USD 168,056                       1.11

5.5% ALLIANZ SE 26/03/2168 USD 163,767                       1.08

6.625% ALAM SYNERGY PTE LTD 24/04/2022 USD 292,725                       1.93

6.125% BOMBARDIER INC 15/01/2023 USD 245,881                       1.62

5.875% MINERVA LUXEMBOURG SA 19/01/2028 USD 152,406                       1.00

6.5% BORETS FINANCE DAC 07/04/2022 USD 257,331                       1.69

5.375% CHEMOURS CO 15/05/2027 USD 316,358                       2.08

7.25% COUNTRY GARDEN HLDGS 04/04/2021 USD 262,481                       1.73

6.5% CREDIT SUISSE AG 08/08/2023 USD 182,669                       1.20

7.25% JBS USA LUX/JBS USA FIN 01/06/2021 USD 176,370                       1.16

6.25% CHINA EVERGRANDE GROUP 28/06/2021 USD 166,600                       1.10

9.25% GAZPROM (GAZ CAPITAL SA) 23/04/2019 USD 265,770                       1.75

4.95% GAZPROM (GAZ CAPITAL SA) 23/03/2027 USD 250,491                       1.65

7.25% GTL TRADE FINANCE INC 16/04/2044 USD 182,028                       1.20

6.5% GLOBAL PORTS FINANCE 22/09/2023 USD 266,560                       1.75

4.1% MMC NORILSK (MMC FIN) 11/04/2023 USD 332,764                       2.19

6.25% GTH FINANCE BV 26/04/2020 USD 354,346                       2.33

5.625% HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 17/01/2168 USD 341,191                       2.24

6% ICAHN ENTERPRISES/FIN 01/08/2020 USD 349,291                       2.30

5.625% INEOS GROUP HOLDINGS SA 01/08/2024 USD 542,522                       3.57

6.25% INTERNATIONAL GAME TECH 15/02/2022 USD 350,725                       2.31

7.25% JBS INVESTMENTS GMBH 03/04/2024 USD 354,489                       2.33

7% KB HOME 15/12/2021 USD 534,265                       3.51

1.5% KFW 06/02/2019 USD 304,940                       2.01

1.25% KFW 30/09/2019 USD 259,054                       1.70

4.75% LENNAR CORP 15/11/2022 USD 428,630                       2.82

6.95% MODERNLAND OVERSEAS PTE 13/04/2024 USD 287,360                       1.89

6.625% MMC NORILSK (MMC FIN) 14/10/2022 USD 275,578                       1.81

7% MARB BONDCO PLC 15/03/2024 USD 248,105                       1.63

5.5% NORDEA BANK ABP 23/03/2168 USD 257,576                       1.69

5.375% PETROBRAS GLOBAL FINANCE 27/01/2021 USD 445,208                       2.93

5.299% PETROBRAS GLOBAL FINANCE 27/01/2025 USD 334,110                       2.20

7.875% GRUPO POSADAS SAB CV 30/06/2022 USD 169,197                       1.11

6.375% BANCO SANTANDER SA 19/08/2167 USD 167,177                       1.10

5.25% SBERBANK (SB CAP SA) 23/05/2023 USD 341,038                       2.24

6.75% SOCIETE GENERALE 06/10/2167 USD 148,033                       0.97
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Global High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund USD) (continued) 
 

 
 
  

Debt Instruments (continued)

11.5% SPRINT COMMUNICATIONS 15/11/2021 USD 297,585                       1.96

5.75% TURKCELL ILETISIM HIZMET 15/10/2025 USD 159,822                       1.05

4.25% JAGUAR LAND ROVER AUTOMO 15/11/2019 USD 345,879                       2.28

4.875% TURK TELEKOMUNIKASYON AS 19/06/2024 USD 301,844                       1.99

5.125% UBS AG 15/05/2024 USD 261,081                       1.72

8% UNICREDIT SPA 03/06/2167 USD 311,126                       2.05

8.25% VALE OVERSEAS LIMITED 17/01/2034 USD 216,362                       1.42

6.375% VEDANTA RESOURCES PLC 30/07/2022 USD 156,674                       1.03

6% VEDANTA RESOURCES PLC 31/01/2019 USD 174,366                       1.15

5.25% VIRGIN MEDIA SECURED FIN 15/01/2026 USD 160,724                       1.06

2.25% WESTPAC BANKING CORP 09/11/2020 USD 172,347                       1.13

6.9% YESTAR HEALTHCARE HLD CO 15/09/2021 USD 143,527                       0.94

Total debt instruments 13,208,144                 86.88                           

Equity

ISHARES USD HY CORP USD DIST USD 264,087                       1.74

Total Equity 264,087                       1.74                              

Total portfolio of investments 13,472,231                 88.62

Bank balances 1,569,683                   10.33

Other assets net of l iabilities 160,258                       1.05

Net Assets 15,202,172                 100.00                         
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Equity Fund 

 
 
 
 

  

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Equities

ALLIANZ SE-REG EUR 363,416                       5.82                              

APPLE INC EUR 171,575                       2.75                              

ASML HOLDING NV EUR 445,770                       7.14                              

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR USD 131,487                       2.11                              

BAYERISCHE MOTOREN WERKE AG EUR 282,800                       4.53                              

BNP PARIBAS EUR 315,800                       5.06                              

BANK OF VALLETTA PLC EUR 133,000                       2.13                              

VINCI SA EUR 144,040                       2.31                              

DEUTSCHE POST AG-REG EUR 334,740                       5.36                              

VALEO SA EUR 223,212                       3.58                              

SOCIETE GENERALE SA EUR 159,965                       2.56                              

HALLIBURTON CO USD 101,990                       1.63                              

MASTERCARD INC - A USD 164,516                       2.64                              

LVMH MOET HENNESSY LOUIS VUI EUR 387,300                       6.20                              

MUENCHENER RUECKVER AG-REG EUR 285,825                       4.58                              

L'OREAL EUR 281,680                       4.51                              

RENAULT SA EUR 349,120                       5.59                              

WEIBO CORP-SPON ADR USD 117,196                       1.88                              

Total equities 4,393,432                   70.38                           

Exchange traded funds

LYXOR EURSTX600 BANKS EUR 302,148                       4.84                              

LYXOR EURSTX600 HALTHCARE EUR 417,350                       6.69                              

LYXOR DAX DR EUR 162,400                       2.60                              

ISHR EUROPE600 OIL & GAS DE EUR 253,773                       4.07                              

ISH EUR600 BASICRESOURCE DE EUR 281,785                       4.51                              

LYXOR EURSTX600 TECHNLG EUR 456,908                       7.32                              

Total exchange traded funds 1,874,364                   30.03                           

Total portfolio of investments 6,267,796                   100.40                         

Bank balances (27,502) (0.44)

Other liabilties net of assets 2,290                           0.04

Net Assets 6,242,584                   100.00                         
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Global Balanced Income Fund 

 

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Debt Instruments

4% CHEMOURS CO 15/05/2026 EUR 189,916                       3.15

4% EDEN FINANCE 28/04/2027 EUR 73,430                         1.22

7.5% GARFUNKELUX HOLDCO 3 SA 01/08/2022 EUR 178,090                       2.95

4% INEOS FINANCE PLC 01/05/2023 EUR 200,946                       3.33

5.25% INTRALOT CAPITAL LUX 15/09/2024 EUR 127,938                       2.12

4.75% LENNAR CORP 01/04/2021 USD 43,291                         0.72

7% KB HOME 15/12/2021 USD 44,522                         0.74

6.5% LECTA SA 01/08/2023 EUR 185,680                       3.08

4.875% LOXAM SAS 23/07/2021 EUR 58,870                         0.98

5% NIDDA BONDCO GMBH 30/09/2025 EUR 176,002                       2.92

5.299% PETROBRAS GLOBAL FINANCE 27/01/2025 USD 167,055                       2.77

4.35% SD FINANCE PLC 25/04/2027 EUR 82,950                         1.37

6.125% VEDANTA RESOURCES PLC 09/08/2024 USD 145,321                       2.41

Total debt instruments 1,674,011                   27.73                           

Equities

APPLE INC USD 123,804                       2.05

ALLIANZ SE-REG EUR 122,598                       2.03

ASML HOLDING NV EUR 219,456                       3.64

BAYERISCHE MOTOREN WERKE AG EUR 166,145                       2.75

BNP PARIBAS EUR 75,003                         1.24

BANK OF VALLETTA PLC EUR 119,700                       1.98

DEUTSCHE POST AG-REG EUR 95,640                         1.58

VALEO SA EUR 127,550                       2.11

HALLIBURTON CO USD 101,990                       1.69

ISHARES USD HY CORP USD DIST USD 84,373                         1.40

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC GBP 2,683                           0.04

MUENCHENER RUECKVER AG-REG EUR 123,858                       2.05

L'OREAL EUR 120,720                       2.00

RENAULT SA EUR 185,470                       3.07

VOLKSWAGEN AG EUR 111,280                       1.84

WEIBO CORP-SPON ADR USD 112,101                       1.86

Total equities 1,892,371                   31.35                           

Exchange traded funds

ISHARES EURO HY CORP EUR 199,970                       3.31

LYXOR CAC 40 DR-D-EUR EUR 125,172                       2.07

ISHARES MSCI EM ASIA ACC USD 289,668                       4.80

ISHARES CORE S&P 500 USD 171,162                       2.84

LYXOR DAX DR EUR 203,000                       3.36

LYXOR EURSTX600 HALTHCARE EUR 166,940                       2.77
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Global Balanced Income Fund (continued) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Exchange traded funds (continued)

ISHARES MSCI EM ACC USD 175,948                       2.91

ISHR EUROPE600 OIL & GAS DE EUR 107,012                       1.77

ISH EUR600 BASICRESOURCE DE EUR 80,510                         1.33

LYXOR EURSTX600 TECHNLG EUR 174,060                       2.88

Total exchange traded funds 1,693,442                   28.05                           

Forwards

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 04.01.2019 USD (22,578) (0.37)

Total forwards (22,578) (0.37)

Total portfolio of investments 5,237,246                   86.76                           

Bank balances 797,697                       13.21

Other assets net of l iabilities 1,530                           0.03

Net Assets 6,036,473                   100.00                         
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Malta Government Bond Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Debt Instruments

2.6% BELGIUM KINGDOM 22/06/2024 EUR 45,467                         0.36                              

5.4% BONOS Y OBLIG DEL ESTADO 31/01/2023 EUR 48,469                         0.39                              

3.4% IRISH TSY 3.4% 2024 18/03/2024 EUR 35,056                         0.28                              

3% MALTA GOVERNMENT 11/06/2040 EUR 82,369                         0.66                              

2.2% OBRIGACOES DO TESOURO 17/10/2022 EUR 21,574                         0.17                              

4.125% OBRIGACOES DO TESOURO 14/04/2027 EUR 48,023                         0.38                              

3% REPUBLIC OF POLAND 17/03/2023 USD 12,958                         0.10                              

6.25% HUNGARY 29/01/2020 USD 17,963                         0.14                              

7% REPUBLIC OF TURKEY 05/06/2020 USD 13,378                         0.11                              

5.125% REPUBLIKA SLOVENIJA 30/03/2026 EUR 39,765                         0.32                              

5.75% BONOS Y OBLIG DEL ESTADO 30/07/2032 EUR 29,576                         0.24                              

5.25% MALTA GOVERNMENT 23/06/2030 EUR 837,900                       6.69                              

4.5% MALTA GOVERNMENT 25/10/2028 EUR 1,477,966                   11.79                           

4.65% MALTA GOVERNMENT 22/07/2032 EUR 627,210                       5.01                              

5.1% MALTA GOVERNMENT 01/10/2029 EUR 642,913                       5.13                              

1.4% MALTA GOVERNMENT 29/07/2024 EUR 835,200                       6.67                              

2% MALTA GOVERNMENT 26/09/2020 EUR 51,797                         0.41                              

2.1% MALTA GOVERNMENT 24/08/2039 EUR 361,745                       2.89                              

2.2% MALTA GOVERNMENT 24/11/2035 EUR 89,403                         0.71                              

2.3% MALTA GOVERNMENT 24/07/2029 EUR 1,085,500                   8.66                              

2.4% MALTA GOVERNMENT 25/07/2041 EUR 160,530                       1.28                              

2.5% MALTA GOVERNMENT 17/11/2036 EUR 349,824                       2.79                              

3.3% MALTA GOVERNMENT 12/11/2024 EUR 386,490                       3.08                              

4.1% MALTA GOVERNMENT 18/10/2034 EUR 1,020,240                   8.14                              

3% MALTA GOVERNMENT 22/09/2019 EUR 15,344                         0.12                              

4.3% MALTA GOVERNMENT 01/08/2033 EUR 431,925                       3.45                              

4.6% MALTA GOVERNMENT 25/04/2020 EUR 74,312                         0.59                              

4.8% MALTA GOVERNMENT 11/09/2028 EUR 230,160                       1.84                              

4.3% MALTA GOVERNMENT 15/05/2022 EUR 375,408                       3.00                              

4.45% MALTA GOVERNMENT 03/09/2032 EUR 784,076                       6.26                              

5.1% MALTA GOVERNMENT 16/08/2022 EUR 305,747                       2.44                              

5.2% MALTA GOVERNMENT 16/09/2031 EUR 658,533                       5.26                              

5% MALTA GOVERNMENT 08/08/2021 EUR 248,171                       1.98                              

5.5% MALTA GOVERNMENT 06/07/2023 EUR 147,504                       1.18                              

Total debt instruments 11,592,496                 92.51                           

Exchange traded funds

LYXOR EUROMTS 3-5Y DR ETF EUR 61,024                         0.49                              

Total exchange traded funds 61,024                         0.49                              

Total portfolio of investments 11,653,520                 93.00                           

Bank balances 811,895                       6.48                              

Other assets net of l iabil ities 65,187                         0.52                              

Net Assets 12,530,602                 100.00                         
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Emerging Markets Bond Fund 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Debt Instruments

4.95% GAZPROM (GAZ CAPITAL SA) 19/07/2022 USD 352,165                       3.96                              

6.875% AEROPUERTOS ARGENT 2000 01/02/2027 USD 120,515                       1.36                              

7.25% ALDESA FINANCIAL SERVCS 01/04/2021 EUR 48,611                         0.55                              

4.75% ALTICE FINCO SA 15/01/2028 EUR 160,727                       1.81                              

6.625% ALAM SYNERGY PTE LTD 24/04/2022 USD 146,363                       1.65                              

6.375% AXTEL SAB DE CV 14/11/2024 USD 167,113                       1.88                              

6.5% MINERVA LUXEMBOURG SA 20/09/2026 USD 325,630                       3.66                              

6.5% BORETS FINANCE DAC 07/04/2022 USD 171,555                       1.93                              

5.125% COUNTRY GARDEN HLDGS 17/01/2025 USD 146,042                       1.64                              

7.5% CHINA EVERGRANDE GROUP 28/06/2023 USD 153,821                       1.73                              

3.625% GEELY AUTOMOBILE 25/01/2023 USD 171,101                       1.92                              

7.25% GTL TRADE FINANCE INC 16/04/2044 USD 182,028                       2.05                              

8.375% GAJAH TUNGGAL TBK PT 10/08/2022 USD 146,732                       1.65                              

6.5% GLOBAL PORTS FINANCE 22/09/2023 USD 355,413                       4.00                              

8.125% GLOBAL LIMAN ISLETMELERI 14/11/2021 USD 333,625                       3.75                              

4.1% MMC NORILSK (MMC FIN) 11/04/2023 USD 166,382                       1.87                              

7.25% JBS INVESTMENTS GMBH 03/04/2024 USD 354,489                       3.99                              

1.5% KFW 06/02/2019 USD 261,377                       2.94                              

6.375% LOGAN PROPERTY HOLDINGS 07/03/2021 USD 255,182                       2.87                              

6.95% MODERNLAND OVERSEAS PTE 13/04/2024 USD 287,360                       3.23                              

6% MILLICOM INTL CELLULAR 15/03/2025 USD 172,718                       1.94                              

5% NIDDA BONDCO GMBH 30/09/2025 EUR 263,963                       2.97                              

5.299% PETROBRAS GLOBAL FINANCE 27/01/2025 USD 292,347                       3.29                              

3% REPUBLIC OF POLAND 17/03/2023 USD 259,172                       2.91                              

7.875% GRUPO POSADAS SAB CV 30/06/2022 USD 169,197                       1.90                              

6.25% HUNGARY 29/01/2020 USD 89,817                         1.01                              

7% REPUBLIC OF TURKEY 05/06/2020 USD 89,185                         1.00                              

6.375% BANCO SANTANDER SA 19/08/2167 USD 334,354                       3.76                              

5.8% TURKCELL ILETISIM HIZMET 11/04/2028 USD 150,467                       1.69                              

4.75% NEMAK SAB DE CV 23/01/2025 USD 163,357                       1.84                              

6.625% TUPY OVERSEAS SA 17/07/2024 USD 355,095                       3.99                              

4.875% TURK TELEKOMUNIKASYON AS 19/06/2024 USD 150,922                       1.70                              

6.125% VEDANTA RESOURCES PLC 09/08/2024 USD 145,321                       1.63                              

4.95% VEON HOLDINGS BV 16/06/2024 USD 334,323                       3.76                              

6.9% YESTAR HEALTHCARE HLD CO 15/09/2021 USD 358,817                       4.03                              

Total debt Instruments 7,635,286                   85.85                           

Exchange traded funds

X HARVEST CSI 300 USD 53,125                         0.60                              

ISHARES MSCI EM ASIA ACC USD 63,727                         0.72                              

ISHARES MSCI EM ACC USD 64,966                         0.73                              

Total exchange traded funds 181,818                       2.04                              
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Emerging Markets Bond Fund (continued) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Forwards

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 04.01.2019 EUR (31,704) (0.36)

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 18.01.2019 EUR (7,776) (0.09)

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 01.02.2019 EUR (1,034) (0.01)

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 15.02.2019 EUR (5,626) (0.06)

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 01.03.2019 EUR 2,500 0.03

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 15.03.2019 EUR 5,931 0.07

Forward Exchange Contract EUR/USD - Sparkasse Bank Malta plc 29.03.2019 EUR 3,131 0.04

Total forwards (34,578) (0.39)

Total portfolio of investments 7,782,526.00              87.51                           

Bank balances 1,021,348 11.48

Other liabilties net of assets 89,647.00                   1.01

Net Assets 8,893,521                   100.00                         
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Malta Balanced Income Fund 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Denominated in: Fair Value Percentage of

EUR total net assets

%

Debt Instruments

3.75% BORTEX GROUP FINANCE PLC 01/12/2027 EUR 332,998                       4.43

4.8% BANK OF VALLETTA PLC 15/03/2020 EUR 140,112                       1.86

4.4% CENTRAL BUSINESS CENTRES 07/07/2027 EUR 38,291                         0.51

4% EDEN FINANCE 28/04/2027 EUR 356,135                       4.73

4.75% GILLIERU INVESTMENT 30/11/2028 EUR 118,163                       1.57

5% HH FINANCE PLC 19/05/2028 EUR 113,322                       1.51

3.85% HILI FINANCE CO PLC 24/07/2028 EUR 220,375                       2.93

4% INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVE 20/12/2026 EUR 158,100                       2.10

4% INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVE 29/07/2026 EUR 111,240                       1.48

5% JD CAPITAL PLC 21/05/2028 EUR 109,080                       1.45

6% MEDIRECT BANK MALTA PLC 28/11/2024 EUR 86,275                         1.15

4% MIDI MALTA PLC 26/07/2026 EUR 56,462                         0.75

4.8% MED MARITIME HUB FINANCE 14/10/2026 EUR 67,600                         0.90

5.75% PHARMACARE FINANCE 29/10/2028 EUR 202,400                       2.69

3.75% PREMIER CAPITAL PLC 23/11/2026 EUR 252,762                       3.36

4.35% SD FINANCE PLC 25/04/2027 EUR 343,560                       4.57

4% STIVALA GR FINANCE PLC 18/10/2027 EUR 302,872                       4.02

3.75% VIRTU FINANCE PLC 30/11/2027 EUR 206,500                       2.74

Total debt instruments 3,216,247                   42.74                           

Equities

BANK OF VALLETTA PLC EUR 85,093                         1.13

MALTACOM PLC EUR 333,895                       4.44

HSBC BANK MALTA PLC EUR 357,406                       4.75

INTERNATIONAL HOTEL INVEST EUR 187,840                       2.50

LOMBARD BANK (MALTA) PLC EUR 190,671                       2.53

MIDI PLC EUR 87,100                         1.16

MALTA INTNL AIRPORT-A SHARES EUR 140,517                       1.87

MALITA INVESTMENTS PLC-B SHS EUR 289,310                       3.84

MAPFRE MIDDLESEA PLC EUR 7,807                           0.10

MALTAPOST PLC EUR 108,345                       1.44

PG PLC EUR 256,931                       3.41

PLAZA CENTRES PLC EUR 264,068                       3.51

TIGNE MALL PLC EUR 278,885                       3.71

Total equities 2,587,868                   34.39                           

Total portfolio of investments 5,804,115                   77.13                           

Bank balances 1,696,854                   22.55

Other assets net of l iabil ities 24,279                         0.32

Net Assets 7,525,248                   100.00                         
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Efficient portfolio management techniques 
31 December 2018 

 
Efficient portfolio management techniques 
 
The Company may employ various techniques, including the use of FDIs, to attempt to reduce a portion of the risks 
inherent in the respective sub-ŦǳƴŘΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎƛŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ŜŦŦƛŎƛŜƴǘ ǇƻǊǘŦƻƭƛƻ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǘŜŎƘƴƛǉǳŜǎ ƛǎ 
subject to the provisions of the sub-ŦǳƴŘǎΩ hŦŦŜǊƛƴƎ {ǳǇǇƭŜƳŜƴǘǎΦ 
 
Emerging Market Bond Fund 
The Investment Manager may make use of listed and OTC FDIs (including, but not limited to, futures, forwards, options 
and swaps) linked to bonds, interest rates and currencies for efficient portfolio management, hedging purposes and the 
reduction of risk only.  
The sub-fuƴŘΩǎ ōŀǎŜ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ƛǎ ¦{5 ŀƴŘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ǘǿƻ ¦{5 ǎƘŀǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǘǿƻ 9¦w ŘŜƴƻƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ ǎƘŀǊŜ ŎƭŀǎǎŜǎ ŀǊŜ 
available. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Fund has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to 
hedge the EUR denominated share classes. Details of the forward contracts and the respective notional exposure 
calculated on the basis of the Standard Commitment Approach are as follows: 
 
Forward currency contracts 
 

Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/01/19 155,000.00 183,512.25 160,035.10 Sparkasse -5,809.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/01/19 815,000.00 964,919.25 841,474.88 Sparkasse -30,546.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 18/01/19 150,000.00 174,165.00 151,883.67 Sparkasse -1,996.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 18/01/19 520,000.00 603,772.00 526,530.04 Sparkasse -6,921.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 01/02/19 130,000.00 149,581.90 130,445.54 Sparkasse -195.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 01/02/19 660,000.00 759,415.80 662,261.97 Sparkasse -990.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 15/02/19 100,000.00 115,950.00 101,116.25 Sparkasse -902.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 15/02/19 615,000.00 713,092.50 621,864.92 Sparkasse -5,549.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 01/03/19 430,000.00 494,543.00 431,274.96 Sparkasse 743.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 01/03/19 1,230,000.00 1,414,623.00 1,233,646.99 Sparkasse 2,124.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 15/03/19 185,000.00 211,954.50 184,838.67 Sparkasse 1,398.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 15/03/19 715,000.00 819,175.50 714,376.47 Sparkasse 5,403.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 29/03/19 185,000.00 212,879.50 185,645.33 Sparkasse 742.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 29/03/19 710,000.00 816,997.00 712,476.67 Sparkasse 2,848.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 02/02/18 509,000.00 596,039.00 519,786.34 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 19/12/18  685,000.00   799,203.20   696,959.27  Sparkasse  -    
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Emerging Market Bond Fund (continued) 
 

Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 02/02/18  991,000.00   1,160,461.00   1,012,000.52  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/02/18  50,000.00   58,595.00   51,098.81  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/02/18  133,000.00   155,862.70   135,922.82  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/03/18  50,000.00   58,695.00   51,186.01  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/03/18  133,000.00   156,128.70   136,154.79  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 14/02/18  63,000.00   74,333.70   64,824.02  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 14/02/18  156,000.00   184,064.40   160,516.61  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 14/03/18  63,000.00   74,453.40   64,928.40  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 14/03/18  156,000.00   184,360.80   160,775.09  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/02/18  12,000.00   14,234.40   12,413.36  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/02/18  68,500.00   81,254.70   70,859.60  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/03/18  12,000.00   14,246.40   12,423.82  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/03/18  68,500.00   81,323.20   70,919.33  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 28/02/18  10,000.00   11,980.00   10,447.37  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 28/02/18  82,000.00   98,236.00   85,668.44  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 27/03/18  10,000.00   12,000.00   10,464.81  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 27/03/18  82,000.00   98,400.00   85,811.46  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/04/18  112,000.00   133,134.40   116,102.21  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 11/04/18  21,000.00   25,397.36   22,148.22  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 11/04/18  123,000.00   148,755.95   129,725.26  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 18/04/18  104,000.00   127,004.80   110,756.78  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 18/04/18  281,000.00   343,157.20   299,256.30  Sparkasse  -    
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Emerging Market Bond Fund (continued) 
 

Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 25/04/18  75,000.00   93,465.00   81,507.81  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 25/04/18  350,000.00   436,170.00   380,369.76  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 02/05/18  282,000.00   353,261.40   308,067.85  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 02/05/18  711,000.00   890,669.70   776,724.25  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 09/05/18  282,000.00   353,374.20   308,166.22  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 09/05/18  711,000.00   890,954.10   776,972.27  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 16/05/18  282,000.00   353,571.60   308,338.36  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 16/05/18  711,000.00   891,451.80   777,406.30  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 23/05/18  35,000.00   43,536.50   37,966.77  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 23/05/18  210,000.00   261,219.00   227,800.65  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 30/05/18  55,000.00   68,458.54   59,700.48  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 30/05/18  175,000.00   217,822.50   189,955.96  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 30/05/18  12,000.00   14,892.00   12,986.83  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 30/05/18  158,500.00   196,698.50   171,534.40  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 30/05/18  8,000.00   9,848.00   8,588.12  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 30/05/18  180,000.00   221,580.00   193,232.75  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 06/06/18  49,000.00   61,284.30   53,444.06  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 06/06/18  219,000.00   273,903.30   238,862.21  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 13/06/18  64,000.00   79,744.00   69,542.16  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 13/06/18  169,000.00   210,574.00   183,634.78  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 20/06/18  25,000.00   31,237.50   27,241.21  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 20/06/18  100,000.00   124,950.00   108,964.86  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 26/06/18  100,000.00   123,780.00   107,944.54  Sparkasse  -    
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Emerging Market Bond Fund (continued) 
 

Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/07/18  200,000.00   246,520.00   214,982.12  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 11/07/18  145,000.00   180,873.00   157,733.50  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 18/07/18  100,000.00   124,488.90   108,562.75  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 18/07/18  275,000.00   342,344.47   298,547.55  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 25/07/18  65,000.00   79,924.00   69,699.14  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 25/07/18  365,000.00   448,804.00   391,387.46  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 01/08/18  270,000.00   326,592.00   284,810.33  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 01/08/18  690,000.00   834,624.00   727,848.61  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 14/08/18  255,000.00   305,388.00   266,319.00  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 14/08/18  615,000.00   736,524.00   642,298.77  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 29/08/18  200,000.00   237,920.00   207,482.34  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 29/08/18  600,000.00   713,760.00   622,447.02  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 12/09/18  100,000.00   119,090.00   103,854.54  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 12/09/18  100,000.00   119,090.00   103,854.54  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 12/09/18  45,000.00   53,271.00   46,455.92  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 12/09/18  375,000.00   443,925.00   387,132.64  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 26/09/18  75,000.00   88,087.50   76,818.26  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 26/09/18  510,000.00   598,995.00   522,364.18  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 12/09/18  56,000.00   66,449.60   57,948.55  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 12/09/18  271,000.00   321,568.60   280,429.58  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 26/09/18  64,000.00   75,936.00   66,221.33  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 26/09/18  284,000.00   336,966.00   293,857.16  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 10/10/18  300,000.00   350,580.00   305,729.48  Sparkasse  -    
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Emerging Market Bond Fund (continued) 
 

Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 10/10/18  110,000.00   128,920.00   112,426.96  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 10/10/18  210,000.00   246,330.00   214,816.43  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 24/10/18  290,000.00   343,476.00   299,534.32  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 24/10/18  110,000.00   128,997.00   112,494.11  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 24/10/18  335,000.00   392,854.50   342,595.71  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/11/18  20,000.00   23,608.00   20,587.77  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/11/18  200,000.00   236,080.00   205,877.74  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/11/18  85,000.00   100,223.50   87,401.67  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 07/11/18  430,000.00   507,013.00   442,149.65  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/11/18  200,000.00   235,800.00   205,633.56  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/11/18  750,000.00   884,250.00   771,125.84  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/11/18  225,000.00   258,547.50   225,470.92  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 21/11/18  520,000.00   597,532.00   521,088.34  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 05/12/18  170,000.00   199,678.60   174,133.25  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 05/12/18  670,000.00   786,968.60   686,289.88  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 10/10/18  100,000.00   117,540.00   102,502.83  Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 19/12/18  185,000.00   215,843.20   188,229.88  Sparkasse  -    

 
 
 
 
Realised gains/losses on derivative financial instruments used for efficient portfolio management techniques during the 
financial year ending 31 December 2018 amounted to -EUR540,904.47 (2017: EURNil). Direct and indirect operational 
costs and fees incurred on such techniques amounted to EUR11,673.75 (2017: EUR4,161.91). There was no collateral 
received by the Company/sub-fund to reduce counterparty exposure in 2018 and 2017. 
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Euro High Income Bond Fund (formerly High Income Bond Fund ς EUR) 
 
The Investment Manager may make use of listed and OTC FDIs (including, but not limited to, futures, forwards, options 
and swaps) linked to bonds, interest rates and currencies for efficient portfolio management, hedging purposes and the 
reduction of risk only.  
 
As disclosed in the schedule of investments on page 50, the sub-fund holds investments denominated in USD. During 
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Fund has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its risk 
exposure to adverse fluctuations in the currency exchange rate on these investments. Details of the forward contracts 
and the respective notional exposure calculated on the basis of the Standard Commitment Approach are as follows: 
 
Forward currency contracts 
 

Details Maturity 
Contract value 

in foreign 
currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/01/2019 -6,700,000.00 -5,745,667.60 -6,588,557.04 Sparkasse -98,329.00 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/04/2018 6,500,000.00 -5,371,013.06 -6,158,940.68 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/07/2018 7,000,000.00 -5,668,934.24 -6,500,566.89 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 03/10/2018 6,850,000.00 -5,841,539.92 -6,698,493.83 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 05/01/2018 5,150,000.00 -4,381,300.78 -5,024,037.60 Sparkasse - 

Notional amount = contract amount in reporting currency                                              @spot price 
 
 
Realised gains/losses on derivative financial instruments used for efficient portfolio management techniques during the 
financial year ending 31 December 2018 amounted to -EUR268,609.78 (2017: EUR134,748.81). Direct and indirect 
operational costs and fees incurred on such techniques amounted to EUR11,412.35(2017: EUR6,925.30). There was no 
collateral received by the Company/sub-fund to reduce counterparty exposure in 2017 and 2018. 
 
Euro Equity Fund 
 
The Investment Manager may make use of listed and OTC FDIs (including, but not limited to, futures, forwards, options 
and swaps) linked to bonds, interest rates and currencies for efficient portfolio management, hedging purposes and the 
reduction of risk only.  
 
As disclosed in the schedule of investments on page 51 , the sub-fund holds investments denominated in USD. During 
ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘŜŘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмуΣ ǘƘŜ CǳƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ŜƴǘŜǊŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ ŦƻǊǿŀǊŘ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǎ ǘƻ ƘŜŘƎŜ ƛǘΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ 
exposure to adverse fluctuations in the currency exchange rate on these investments. Details of the forward contracts 
and the respective notional exposure calculated on the basis of the Standard Commitment Approach are as follows:
  
 
 
Forward currency contracts: 
 

Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 23/01/2018 1,000,000.00 -844,880.03 -968,823.93 Sparkasse  -    

SELL USD/BUY EUR 24/04/2018 1,200,000.00 -974,658.87 -1,117,641.33 Sparkasse  -    
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Details Maturity 

Contract 
value in 
foreign 

currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 24/07/2018 1,200,000.00 -974,817.22 -1,117,822.91 Sparkasse  -    

 
Realised gains/losses on derivative financial instruments used for efficient portfolio management techniques during the 
financial year ending 31 December 2018 amounted to -EUR32,824.42 (2017: EUR42,783.74). Direct and indirect 
operational costs and fees incurred on such techniques amounted to EUR978.32 (2017: EUR1,958.44). There was no 
collateral received by the Company/sub-fund to reduce counterparty exposure in 2017 and 2018. 
 
Global Balanced Income Fund 
 
The Investment Manager may make use of listed and OTC FDIs (including, but not limited to, futures, forwards, options 
and swaps) linked to bonds, interest rates and currencies for efficient portfolio management, hedging purposes and the 
reduction of risk only.  
As disclosed in the schedule of investments on page 51, the sub-fund holds investments denominated in USD. During 
ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘŜŘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлмуΣ ǘƘŜ CǳƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ŜƴǘŜǊŜŘ ƛƴǘƻ ŦƻǊǿŀǊŘ ŦƻǊŜƛƎƴ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǎ ǘƻ ƘŜŘƎŜ ƛǘΩǎ Ǌƛǎƪ 
exposure to adverse fluctuations in the currency exchange rate on these investments. Details of the forward contracts 
and the respective notional exposure calculated on the basis of the Standard Commitment Approach are as follows:
  
 
Forward currency contracts: 
 

Details Maturity 
Contract value 

in foreign 
currency 

Contract value 
in USD 

Notional Counterparty 
Fair value at 

year end 2018 

       

SELL USD/BUY EUR 05/01/2018 1,910,000.00 -1,624,978.73 -1,863,363.11 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 05/04/2018 2,000,000.00 -1,650,709.81 -1,892,868.94 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/10/2018 1,900,000.00 -1,618,156.05 -1,855,539.54 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 05/07/2018 -2,000,000.00 -1,611,084.26 -1,847,430.32 Sparkasse - 

SELL USD/BUY EUR 04/01/2019 -1,500,000.00 -1,285,778.94 -1,474,402.71 Sparkasse -22,578.00 

Notional amount = contract amount in reporting currency     @spot price 
 
 
 
Realised gains/losses on derivative financial instruments used for efficient portfolio management techniques during 
the financial year ending 31 December 2018 amounted to -EUR69,244.02 (2017: EUR119,058.92). Direct and indirect 
operational costs and fees incurred on such techniques amounted to EUR3,113.30 (2017: EUR3,154.92). There was no 
collateral received by the Company/sub-fund to reduce counterparty exposure in 2018 and 2017. 
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Appendix 1 ς General information 
 

1. Authorisation 

CC Funds SICAV plc (formerly Calamatta Cuschieri Funds SICAV plc) is an open-ended collective investment scheme 
organised as a multi-fund public liability company with variable share capital. The Company was registered on 3rd 
June 2011 and is licensed and regulated by the Malta Financial Services Authority as a collective investment scheme 
under the Investment Services Act (Cap отлύ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ [ŀǿǎ ƻŦ aŀƭǘŀΦ ¢ƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǉǳŀƭƛŦƛŜǎ ŀǎ ŀ ΨaŀƭǘŜǎŜ ¦/L¢{Ω ƛƴ 
terms of the Investment Services Act (Marketing of UCITS) Regulations (S.L. 370.18, Laws of Malta). 

 
2. Management Fees and other expenses 

 

a) Registrar Fees 

A fee of EUR2,360 (including VAT) is levied by the Administrator for acting as Registrar to the Company 
 

b) Secretarial Fees 

A fee of EUR5,000 (excluding VAT) is charged by the Administrator for acting as Secretary to the Company. 
 

c) Dividend Administration Fee 

No fees are charged by the Administrator for administering the payment of the dividend. 
 

d) General 

All fees may be increased with the agreement of the Company and the members shall be notified accordingly. 
 
3. Risk Warning 

Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance. The value of investments and the currency in 
which these are denominated may go down as well as up and investors may not always get back their initial 
investment. Investments in collective investment schemes should be regarded as a medium to long-term 
investment. 
 
This annual report does not constitute an offer to purchase units in the respective funds. The opinions expressed 
are given in good faith and should not be construed as investment and /or tax advice. 

 

4. aŀƛƴ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎ during the reporting year 

5ǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŜƴŘŜŘ ом 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ нлму ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŜǊŜ ƴƻ ƳŀƧƻǊ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎΦ 
 
 
5. aŀƛƴ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎ Ǉƻǎǘ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ǇŜǊƛƻŘ 

There were no changes in the Company documentation post the period under review, other than those mentioned 
in note 13 to the financial statement. 
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/ǳǎǘƻŘƛŀƴΩǎ wŜǇƻǊǘ 
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